### Links between marine and gut bacterial communities and diet in

thick-billed murres (Uria lomvia)

Esteban Góngora

Natural Resource Sciences

McGill University, Montreal

December 2018

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements

of the degree of Master of Science

© Esteban Góngora 2019

A new consciousness is developing which sees the earth as a single organism and recognizes that an organism at war with itself is doomed. We are one planet.

- Carl Sagan

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my two supervisors, Dr. Kyle Elliott and Dr. Lyle Whyte for allowing me to work in their laboratories, for helping me develop a project that could combine my interests in their fields of expertise, and for guiding me through this experience that has taught me so much. I would also like to thank the other member of my committee, Dr. Jessica Head for her advice with my project and all the valuable lessons I learnt from taking her class. Thanks to Dr. Birgit Braune and Dr. Kim Fernie from Environment Canada who collaborated with us in different parts of the project. A special thanks to Dr. Jen Ronholm for her advice with the sequencing techniques. Thanks to Dr. Melissa McKinney who evaluated the first draft of this thesis; her comments greatly improved this work overall.

I am grateful for the support that my laboratory colleagues and friends from the Elliott, Whyte, Faucher, Basu, Head, and Humphries labs gave me through the two years and a half and the discussions I had with them that helped to shape this project. Particularly, I want to acknowledge the support given by Dr. Mira Okshevsky with the revisions she gave to my work during the final stretch of the thesis writing process. I also want to acknowledge Dr. Isabelle Raymond-Bouchard and (soon to be Dr.) Ianina Altshuler for their continuous guidance and advice during my experiments. I want to thank David Touchette for being my unofficial French reviser in this and other documents. Thanks to Catherine Maggiori and Mariam Saad for our constant ranting sessions that helped me keep going. Also, thanks to all the people that helped me during the field season and made Coats an incredible experience: Allison Patterson, Émile Brisson-Curadeau, Sarah Poole, Jean-Hughes Martin, François St-Aubin, Scott Flemming, and Josiah Nakoolak.

Finally, the greatest thanks go to my family, especially my parents Jorge Góngora and Elizabeth Bernoske, and my sister Catalina Góngora for their endless support from the distance during this journey and to my girlfriend, Paula Rojas, who has been there listening and contributing to keep what little is left of my sanity. I couldn't have done this without them.

## **Table of Contents**

Acknow	wledgementsI		
Table of	of ContentsIII		
AbstractV			
RésuméVII			
List of	Tables IX		
List of	FiguresX		
Chapte	er 1. Introduction and Literature Review1		
1.1.	Thick-billed murres: a generalist species made of individualists1		
1.2.	Importance of sulfate-reducing bacteria in the mercury cycle		
1.3.	Seabirds: monitors of the oceans		
1.4.	Gut bacteria: key players in diet and mercury accumulation		
1.5.	Research questions12		
Connec	cting text:15		
Chapte	er 2. Nitrogen and sulfur isotopes predict variation in mercury levels in		
Arctic	seabird prey16		
2.1.	Abstract17		
2.2.	Introduction		
2.3.	Materials and Methods		

2.4.	Results		
2.5.	Discussion		
2.6.	Conclusions		
2.7.	Acknowledgements		
2.8.	Conflicts of Interest		
2.9.	Appendix A. Supplementary data		
Connec	cting text:		
Chapter 3. Individual prey specialization is associated with gut microbiome in			
seabird	s37		
3.1.	Abstract		
3.2.	Introduction		
3.3.	Materials and Methods42		
3.4.	Results		
3.5.	Discussion		
3.6.	Acknowledgements		
3.7.	Supplementary Material61		
Chapter 4. Conclusion72			
References76			

#### Abstract

The use of diet generalizations for the study of an animal population facilitates sampling efforts and drawing conclusions from the collected data. However, using average values does not take into consideration the fact that a population is composed of individuals who may have different feeding behaviours. Individual prey specialization occurs in many animals and, particularly, in many seabirds. The study of this phenomenon is of importance for the understanding various aspects of the life history of these animals. This thesis contributes to the current knowledge of an Arctic seabird, the thick-billed murre (*Uria lomvia*) by investigating the interactions with bacteria that could determine the way these birds consume nutrients and accumulate mercury (Hg).

Seabirds are often used to monitor contaminant levels in the ocean because they integrate exposure signals over large areas and bring that signal back to a central location, their colonies, where they can be easily sampled. Individual prey specialization should be taken into consideration when using wildlife as monitors, given that diet plays an important role on the concentrations and type of contaminants that are accumulated by wildlife. We studied Hg accumulation patterns in an Arctic food web from Coats Island (Canada) comprised of invertebrates and fish that are common prey of the thick-billed murre. We characterized this food web using stable isotope signatures as proxy measurements of trophic level ( $\delta^{15}$ N), Hg methylation ( $\delta^{34}$ S), and carbon source ( $\delta^{13}$ C).  $\delta^{34}$ S can be used as an indicator of the activity of sulfate-reducing bacteria, the main Hg methylators.  $\delta^{34}$ S better explained Hg levels than the more widely used  $\delta^{15}$ N when used individually and improved the correlation of  $\delta^{15}$ N with Hg when the two ratios were combined.

As diet can affect the composition of the gut microbiome, it is expected that the bacteria inhabiting the intestines of prey specialists will vary with differential diets. Males and females also present variating feeding habits which could potentially change their gut bacterial communities.

We present the first description of the gut microbiome of the thick-billed murre. Diet categories were associated with variation in the gut microbiome. The bacteria that dominate the microbial community may be aiding their host to better metabolize the nutrients of their specialized diet. Differences in bacterial diversity were also found between males and females which can be explained by the variation in feeding times by sex that occurs at the studied colony.

#### Résumé

L'utilisation des généralisations de l'alimentation pour l'étude d'une population animale facilite les efforts d'échantillonnage et tirer des conclusions des données collectés. Cependant, en utilisant des valeurs moyennes ne tient pas compte du fait qu'une population est compris des individus qui peuvent avoir des comportements alimentaires différents. La spécialisation individuelle de proie se produit chez de nombreux animaux et, particulièrement, chez de nombreux oiseaux marins. L'étude de ce phénomène est importante pour la compréhension de divers aspects de l'histoire de la vie de ces animaux. Cette thèse contribue à la connaissance actuelle d'un oiseau marin arctique, le guillemot de Brünnich (*Uria lomvia*) en enquêtant les interactions avec les bactéries qui pourraient déterminer la façon dont ces oiseaux consomment des nutriments et accumulent du mercure (Hg).

Les oiseaux de mer sont souvent utilisés pour surveiller les niveaux des contaminants dans les océans parce qu'ils intègrent des signaux d'exposition de grandes zones et ils apportent le signal à un emplacement central, leurs colonies, où ils peuvent être échantillonnés facilement. La spécialisation individuelle de proie devrait être prise en considération en utilisant la faune comme des moniteurs, étant donné que l'alimentation joue un rôle important dans les concentrations et le type de contaminants qui sont accumulés par la faune. Nous avons étudié des modèles d'accumulation de Hg dans un réseau alimentaire arctique de l'île Coats (Canada) composé des invertébrés et du poissons qui sont des proies communes des guillemots. Nous avons caractérisé ce réseau alimentaire en utilisant des signatures à isotopes stables comme des mesures indirectes du niveau trophique ( $\delta^{15}$ N), de la méthylation de Hg ( $\delta^{34}$ S) et de la source du carbone ( $\delta^{13}$ C).  $\delta^{34}$ S peut être utilisé comme un indicateur de l'activité des bactéries sulfato-réductrices, les principaux méthylateurs de Hg.  $\delta^{34}$ S explique mieux les niveaux de Hg comparé à le plus utilisé  $\delta^{15}$ N quand ils sont utilisés individuellement et améliore la corrélation de  $\delta^{15}$ N avec des niveaux de Hg quand les deux ratios sont combinés.

Comme le régime alimentaire peut affecter la composition du microbiome intestinal, il est prévu que les bactéries qui habitent les intestins des spécialistes de proie varient selon le régime. Les mâles et les femelles présentent aussi des habitudes alimentaires variables qui pourraient potentiellement changer leurs communautés bactériennes intestinales. Nous présentons la première description du microbiome intestinal du guillemot de Brünnich. Des catégories de régime étaient associés avec des changements dans le microbiome intestinal. Les bactéries qui dominent la communauté microbienne peuvent aider leur hôte à mieux métaboliser des nutriments dans leur régime spécialisé. Des différences dans la diversité bactérienne ont aussi été trouvées entre les mâles et les femelles et peuvent être expliquées par la variation des temps d'alimentation selon le sexe qui occurrent dans la colonie étudiée.

### List of Tables

<b>Table 2.1.</b> Statistical output for models of Hg variation either pooled or not pooled by species26
Table 2.2. Summary of published studies that use sulfur and nitrogen isotopes as explanatory
variables for Hg concentrations
Table 3.1. Diversity indices and statistical analyses among diets and between sexes. MS =
Marginally significant53
Table S3.1. Metadata for the various Thick-billed murre samples collected at Coats Island68

# **List of Figures**

Figure 1.1. Diagram exemplifying the differences in niche use between generalist (a) and
specialist (b) populations. The thick black curve represents the variation of resource use in a
population (total niche width; TNW) and the thin green curves represent the niche use for a given
individual. BIC: between-individual component of the niche width; WIC: within-individual
component of the niche width. Modified from Bolnick et al., 20032
Figure 1.2. Mean total Hg (THg) concentrations in various Canadian Arctic seabird eggs (thick-
billed murres are highlighted in red boxes). The indicative value refers to the Hg concentration for
which 95% of the species are protected from Hg reproductive toxicity. Modified from
Scheuhammer et al., 2012
Figure 1. 3. Schematic illustrating the research questions the thesis aims to answer. Photo credit
for the mercury image: $Og0b$ / Adobe Stock. All other images were taken and edited by Esteban
Góngora14
Figure 2.1. Hypotheses for relationship between Hg and isotopes tested within this paper: trophic
position hypothesis, sulfate availability hypothesis, sulfide abundance hypothesis, and habitat
variation hypothesis
Figure 2.2. Relationships between a) $\delta$ 13C and $\delta$ 15N, b) $\delta$ 13C and $\delta$ 34S, and c) $\delta$ 15N and $\delta$ 34S
for Arctic fish and invertebrates from Coats Island. Data from all $(N = 56)$ individual samples was
included and was not pooled by species. See Figure 3 for species legend27
Figure 2.3. Log Hg decreased with $\delta$ 34S for samples averaged by species. Error bars represent SE
for a given species; for species with no error bars, only one individual was collected for that
species

Figure 3. 3. Alpha diversity metrics for the gut microbiome evidencing differences between diets for (a) Shannon Diversity Index and (b) Pielou's Evenness and for differences between sexes for (c) Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity (Faith's PD). Letters above boxplots represent statistically significant differences between groups. For (a) the asterisk (\*) represents a marginally significant difference (P = 0.054) between white and green samples. R = Red; RW = Red and white; W =Figure S3.1. Sampling method used to collect fecal samples (right) and the three main types of fecal samples obtained from Thick-billed murres at Coats Island (left). Based on coloration and consistency, samples are thought to belong to birds with a diet mostly consisting on: arthropods (red), uric acid (white), and fish (yellow)......61 Figure S3. 2. Taxonomic classification at the Genus level of the ASVs obtained from murre fecal samples showing a strong influence of bacteria belonging to the genus Catellicoccus compared to Figure S3. 3. Taxonomic classification at the Phylum level of the ASVs obtained from murre fecal samples grouped by fecal sample colors showing general patterns in taxonomical composition 

Figure S3.4. Principal Coordinates Analysis (PCoA) plots for the gut community composition
using Bray-Curtis dissimilarities. R = Red; RW = Red and white; W = White; Y = Yellow; G =
Green; YW = Yellow and white. Biplots show the taxonomy of the ASVs with the top 5 effects on
the community composition with position of the arrow indicating the direction of the effect64
Figure S3.5. Principal Coordinates Analysis (PCoA) plots for the gut community composition
using the unweighted UniFrac metrics with samples separated by reproductive stage65
Figure S3. 6. Differences in alpha diversity measurements between samples from the same bird
in the two studied time points
Figure S3. 7. Comparison of the value of the first PCoA axis of each bird between sampling points
for the unweighted (a, b) and weighted (c, d) UniFrac metrics, and Bray-Curtis dissimilarities (e,
<b>f</b> )67

#### **Chapter 1. Introduction and Literature Review**

### 1.1. Thick-billed murres: a generalist species made of individualists

Individual prey specialization (IPS), individuals of the same population using resources in their environment differently, is a widely distributed phenomenon occurring in a large number of taxa (Bolnick et al., 2003; Bolnick, Yang, Fordyce, Davis, & Svanbäck, 2002). The total variation in the types of prey of a population (the total niche width, TNW) can be divided into two components: the variation in the types of prey captured within an individual's diet (the within-individual component, WIC) and the variation in the prey between the diets of individuals that comprise the population (the between-individual component, BIC) so that TNW = WIC + BIC (Bolnick et al., 2003). IPS occurs when the BIC is larger than the WIC; individuals are specializing in small proportions of the TNW that vary from individual to individual (Fig. 1). The proportion of the within-individual component of the total niche width (WIC/TNW) has been used as a measurement for individual prey specialization. Because the two components add up to the TNW, when the BIC is large, the proportion between the WIC and the TNW (WIC/TNW) is small. IPS occurs with such a high frequency that it has been suggested that generalist populations may actually be composed of multiple specialist individuals (Bolnick et al., 2003; Provencher, Elliott, Gaston, & Braune, 2013). Although several explanations for the occurrence of this phenomenon have been proposed (Bolnick et al., 2003), in many cases, it is still not clear why IPS occurs.

Thick-billed murres (*Uria lomvia*) are seabirds found in a wide range of sites throughout the Arctic. Thick-billed murres are considered to be generalists, but they present various degrees and types of IPS within the same population (Woo, Elliott, Davidson, Gaston, & Davoren, 2008) and throughout the years (Elliott, Woo, & Gaston, 2009). Sex-specific feeding behaviours have also been seen in various murre colonies, with males and females feeding at different times of the day while their mate stays at the colony taking care of their egg or chick (Elliott, Gaston, & Crump, 2010; Paredes, Jones, & Boness, 2006). This behaviour may lead to different types of prey being caught by each sex due to their abundance at different times of the day (Elliott et al., 2010).



Figure 1.1. Diagram exemplifying the differences in niche use between generalist (a) and specialist (b) populations. The thick black curve represents the variation of resource use in a population (total niche width; TNW) and the thin green curves represent the niche use for a given individual. BIC: between-individual component of the niche width; WIC: within-individual component of the niche width. Modified from Bolnick et al., 2003.

#### 1.2. Importance of sulfate-reducing bacteria in the mercury cycle

Mercury (Hg) is a naturally occurring element that is liberated from naturally occurring reservoirs into the atmosphere as elemental Hg (Hg<sup>0</sup>) through geogenic (e.g. volcanoes, volatilization from soils, water sources, and plants) and anthropogenic processes (Amos, Jacob, Streets, & Sunderland, 2013; O'Driscoll, Rencz, Lean, & Beaney, 2005). Due to the high vapour pressure of Hg<sup>0</sup>, it can remain in the atmosphere for prolonged periods of time (months to years; Driscoll, Mason, Chan, Jacob, & Pirrone, 2013; O'Driscoll et al., 2005). Hg<sup>0</sup> is then oxidized into ionic Hg (Hg<sup>2+</sup>) which is removed from the atmosphere by dry or wet deposition (Driscoll et al., 2013). Hg speciation between its volatile and deposited forms can lead to processes such as global distillation during which Hg is transferred from equatorial or temperate regions into polar environments where it can be deposited due to atmospheric mercury depletion events (Ariya et al., 2004; Braune et al., 2015; O'Driscoll et al., 2005; Rigét et al., 2011; Skov et al., 2004). Because of this, Hg poses a special threat to polar regions (Fort, Robertson, Grémillet, Traisnel, & Bustamante, 2014; Kirk et al., 2012).

Worldwide Hg deposition has increased three-fold since preindustrial times (Driscoll et al., 2013; Selin, 2009). Currently, 1.9 to 4.0 Gg of Hg are released into the atmosphere every year from human primary sources (Driscoll et al., 2013; Selin, 2009) and it is estimated that 353 Gg of Hg are present in oceans worldwide (Amos et al., 2013). Between  $2.08 \times 10^{-1}$  and  $3.25 \times 10^{-1}$  Gg of Hg are deposited in the Arctic every year (Ariya et al., 2004; Skov et al., 2004), with an additional 1,656 ± 962 Gg of Hg present permafrost soils subject to being released into the environment due to increased thawing (Schuster et al., 2018). This makes the Arctic an ecosystem that is affected by Hg contamination, despite emissions in the region being low (Ariya et al., 2004; O'Driscoll et al., 2005; Skov et al., 2004).

Hg deposited in the environment can be bioaccumulated and later biomagnified in Arctic marine food webs (Atwell, Hobson, & Welch, 1998; Campbell et al., 2005). Methylmercury (MeHg), the neurotoxic organic form of Hg is predominantly assimilated and biomagnified by organisms (Campbell et al., 2005; Dietz et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2008). It is important to note that there may be different mechanisms depending on the level in the food web that is studied, such as the case of benthic detritivores which bioaccumulate but do not biomagnify Hg (Atwell et al., 1998). Individual vertebrates may also have unexplained variation in Hg concentrations irrespective of their trophic position. Such residual variation may be due to variation in diet from seasonal migrations and IPS for great skuas (Thompson, Hamer, & Furness, 1991) or foraging habitats with sulfate-reducing bacteria, the main producers of MeHg in many ecosystems (Elliott & Elliott, 2016; Góngora, Braune, & Elliott, 2018b).

Sulfate-reducing bacteria (and iron-reducing bacteria and methanogens, to a lesser extent) are the main drivers of the conversion of inorganic Hg into MeHg in many environments (Driscoll et al., 2013; Morel, Kraepiel, & Amyot, 1998; Selin, 2009). These bacteria, which inhabit anoxic aquatic environments, use sulfate as the final electron acceptor for respiration and can methylate Hg during the process, presumably by the involvement of the acetyl-coenzyme A pathway (Parks et al., 2013; Pollman & Axelrad, 2014; Selin, 2009). It is not clear why sulfate-reducing bacteria methylate Hg, but it may be a detoxification mechanism (Poulain & Barkay, 2013; Schaefer et al., 2011). The central role played by the sulfate-reducing bacteria suggests that the production of MeHg is not limited by the initial concentration of inorganic Hg but rather by sulfate concentrations and, thus, sulfate reduction rates. The addition of an inhibitor of sulfate reduction to anoxic sediments led to an almost complete reduction of MeHg production (Compeau & Bartha, 1985). Similarly, no methylation occurred in cultures of sulfate-reducing bacteria where no sulfate

was added (King, Kostka, Frischer, & Saunders, 2000). Conversely, increased concentrations of available sulfate in sediments and lakes results in an increase in MeHg production (Gilmour, Henry, & Mitchell, 1992).

#### 1.3. Seabirds: monitors of the oceans

Seabirds can cover large ranges across oceans but breed in more discrete areas. This is of particular interest for the study of contaminants because sampling a reduced number of birds in a breeding colony can provide representative information from large areas of the ocean (Elliott & Elliott, 2013; Furness & Camphuysen, 1997). Seabird eggs are one of the five wildlife groups used as sentinels for marine ecosystems by the Northern Contaminants Program (Scheuhammer et al., 2012) with thick-billed murres at Coats Island being monitored since 1993 and at Prince Leopold Island since 1975 (Braune, Gaston, Hobson, Gilchrist, & Mallory, 2014). Murre eggs have Hg levels lower than the lowest observed adverse effects level for reproductive impairment (Dietz et al., 2013; Scheuhammer et al., 2015) and are below the proposed indicative value for the protection against Hg-induced reproductive inhibition for 95% of the bird (non-marine) species (Scheuhammer et al., 2012; Shore, Pereira, Walker, & Thompson, 2011) as shown in Figure 2. Thus, although thick-billed murres appear not to be directly impacted by Hg at a population level, they remain a key monitoring species for Hg in the Canadian Arctic (Braune, 2007; Braune, Gaston, & Mallory, 2016).

Dietary analyses can be used to determine whether increasing Hg concentrations in animal tissue are due to an increase of available MeHg in the ocean or due to changes in the animal's feeding habits (Elliott & Elliott, 2016; Kidd, Hesslein, Fudge, & Hallard, 1995; McKinney et al., 2015; McKinney, Stirling, Lunn, Peacock, & Letcher, 2010). Stable isotope ratios have been

widely used as indicators of trophic level and feeding location when quantifying Hg in tissues (Atwell et al., 1998; Nisbet, Montoya, Burger, & Hatch, 2002; Overman & Parrish, 2001; Vo, Bank, Shine, & Edwards, 2011).



**Figure 1.2.** Mean total Hg (THg) concentrations in various Canadian Arctic seabird eggs (thick-billed murres are highlighted in red boxes). The indicative value refers to the Hg concentration for which 95% of the species are protected from Hg reproductive toxicity. Modified from Scheuhammer et al., 2012.

The  $\delta^{15}$ N ratio (<sup>15</sup>N to <sup>14</sup>N, expressed in relation to an international isotopic reference) is an index of the relative trophic position of an organism because <sup>15</sup>N content increases with trophic level (Carr et al., 2017; Hobson, Piatt, & Pitocchelli, 1994). As differences in trophic level can explain significant proportions of variation in Hg concentration, especially when temporal trends are being studied, correcting for the  $\delta^{15}$ N ratio are often used to control for this confounding effect

(Bentzen et al., 2016; Kidd et al., 1995; McKinney et al., 2012; Vo et al., 2011). Another commonly used isotope signature is the ratio of  ${}^{13}C$  to  ${}^{14}C$ ,  $\delta^{13}C$  (as expressed relative to an international isotopic reference), which can describe changes in food sources associated with particular habitat types to a greater degree than trophic level. For example, benthic feeding organisms are enriched in <sup>13</sup>C compared to pelagic feeders (Carr et al., 2017; Hobson et al., 1994; Nisbet et al., 2002) and terrigenous organic carbon is associated with lower  $\delta^{13}$ C values compared to marine carbon (Foster et al., 2012; Schell, Barnett, & Vinette, 1998). As sulfate-reducing bacteria respire, sulfur in the water column is converted from sulfate to sulfide causing the remaining sulfate to become enriched in the heavier sulfur isotope, <sup>34</sup>S (Krouse & Mayer, 2000; Peterson & Fry, 1987). This makes the <sup>34</sup>S to <sup>32</sup>S ratio as expressed relative to an international isotopic reference,  $\delta^{34}$ S, useful for the detection of sulfate reduction and, thus, mercury methylation via sulfate-reducing bacteria, so that variation in environmental MeHg levels can be accounted for (Elliott and Elliott 2016).  $\delta^{34}$ S is also used as an indicator of diet source in a similar manner as  $\delta^{13}C$  is used based on the fact that sulfate-reducing bacteria in different environments (e.g. lakes vs. rivers or seawater vs. saltwater) will have different rates of sulfate reduction which will result in varying  $\delta^{34}$ S values for each different site (Carr et al., 2017; Fry & Chumchal, 2012; Hobson, 1999; Lavoie, Kyser, Friesen, & Campbell, 2015).

Thick-billed murre prey specialists appear to be foraging on higher trophic levels compared to prey generalists (Woo et al., 2008) which suggests that higher Hg levels may also correlate with a higher degree of specialization. A recent study showed that variation in Hg among both thickbilled murres and their prey was associated with variation in  $\delta^{15}N$  (Braune et al., 2014a; Braune et al., 2014b). A decrease of  $\delta^{15}N$  in murre eggs at Coats Island due to a dietary shift towards prey lower in  $\delta^{15}N$  (a change of the main prey item from arctic cod to capelin caused by the decrease in arctic cod populations with increasing seawater temperatures) masked an increase in Hg across time, and accounting for variation in  $\delta^{15}$ N improved assessment of Hg trends over time (Braune et al., 2014b). Differential feeding from diverse habitats may also cause variation in the Hg concentrations uptaken. For instance, if Hg levels are higher in one habitat (i.e. benthos) than another habitat (i.e. pelagic waters), due to long range transport or other mechanisms, then an association between Hg and isotopic values might be expected. For example, among fish caught in the same river, those that were originally river residents had higher Hg levels than those that migrated from a lake;  $\delta^{13}$ C and  $\delta^{34}$ S could distinguish between the river residents and the lake migrants (Carr et al., 2017).

#### 1.4. Gut bacteria: key players in diet and mercury accumulation

The role of bacteria in trophic interactions of free-ranging wildlife is increasingly being appreciated. Bacterial biofilms can be important food sources for western sandpipers (Kuwae et al., 2008). Bacteria can control levels of methylmercury in wild birds (Góngora et al., 2018b). The microbiome of wild animals can influence health and diet with production of compounds such as short-chained fatty acids (Waite & Taylor, 2015) and preventing the colonization of pathogens (Oakley et al., 2014). For example, variation in diet composition has been linked to changes in the gut microbiome in wild sticklebacks and perches, two species that present IPS (Bolnick et al., 2014; Bolnick et al., 2014). These studies also show that other types of interactions that alter the feeding behaviour (e.g. differential diets between sexes) can explain the variation in the microbiome (Bolnick et al., 2014; Lewis, Moore, & Wang, 2016). It has also been suggested that the gut microbiome may be crucial to the adaptation of the vertebrate host to ecological pressures, such as rapid environmental change or adverse conditions (Alberdi, Aizpurua, Bohmann, Zepeda-

Mendoza, & Gilbert, 2016; Ben-Yosef, Aharon, Jurkevitch, & Yuval, 2010; Lapanje, Zrimec, Drobne, & Rupnik, 2010; Lewis et al., 2016).

Bacterial communities change in structure and function throughout different sections of the avian gastrointestinal tract (Oakley et al., 2014; Sergeant et al., 2014; Waite & Taylor, 2014). In the crop, communities dominated by *Lactobacillus* primarily occur and they are associated with polysaccharide degradation and lactate fermentation (Oakley et al., 2014) although some cellulose degradation has been observed in hoatzins (Ophisthocomus hoazin; Waite & Taylor, 2014). Less diverse communities also dominated by Lactobacillus are present in the proventriculus and ventriculus due to the low pH (Oakley et al., 2014). The highest diversity of bacteria observed in the intestines, especially the ceca, fulfilling functions such as carbohydrate fermentation, production of vitamins and essential amino acids, and nitrogen waste compound recycling (Oakley et al., 2014; Sergeant et al., 2014; Waite & Taylor, 2014). Uric acid is the primary nitrogenous waste compound excreted by various animal groups such as birds, and some reptiles and insects (Karasawa, 1999; Kohl, 2012; Thong-On et al., 2012). Uric acid comes into contact with the gut microbial communities in birds due to the proximity of the urogenital and intestinal tracts in the cloaca (Kreisinger et al., 2017). Uric acid can travel from the cloaca into the ceca via the rectum due to retrograde peristalsis (Kohl, 2012; Pan & Yu, 2014; Vecherskii, Kuznetsova, & Stepan'kov, 2015; Vispo & Karasov, 1997). Once in the ceca, bacteria can degrade the transported uric acid into ammonia which can be re-absorbed and transformed by birds into nonessential amino acids, such as glutamine (Mortensen & Tindall, 1981a; Vispo & Karasov, 1997). Uric acid is normally fermented by anaerobic bacteria into ammonia, short-chained fatty acids such as acetic acid, and carbon dioxide (Kane, 1997; Mortensen & Tindall, 1981b; Vispo & Karasov, 1997). There are multiple examples of uricolytic bacteria present in the intestines of chickens, turkeys, guinea fowls,

pheasants, ducks, and even hummingbirds, which do not possess ceca (Kohl, 2012). Microbial uric acid recycling may enable the black grouse (*Lyrurus tetrix*) to reuse amounts of uric acid equal to their daily dietary nitrogen intake (Vecherskii et al., 2015). Uric acid recycling also occurs in eastern subterranean termites (*Reticulitermes flavipes*) where, despite the fact these termites have the ability to produce this compound, no uric acid is excreted but is rather taken up by gut bacteria and up to 30% of the total nitrogen in a termite colony can be recycled uric acid nitrogen (Kane, 1997).

Several studies have evidenced variation in the gut microbiome due to diet for multiple bird species using traditional microbiological approaches. Bacterial diversity in chickens shows differences in guanine-cytosine (G+C) content for different types of diet that are persistent throughout the years (Apajalahti, Kettunen, Bedford, & Holben, 2001). Chickens also had higher numbers of coliforms and faecal streptococci when foraging on whole wheat diets compared with conventional diets (Mead, Griffiths, Impey, & Coplestone, 1983). Captive raptors fed commercially prepared chicken presented differences in the isolated bacterial species and abundance when compared to raptors that were not fed chicken (Bangert, Ward, Stauber, Cho, & Widders, 1988). For penguins, crustacean-based diets, in opposition to fish-based diets, are related to a higher number of coliforms in various parts of the penguin gut (Soucek & Mushin, 1970). However, such variation was only seen between and not within penguin species. When comparing various bird species and families, a study showed that birds with insectivorous and granivorous diets tended to have lower numbers of *Campylobacter*. The authors also showed a tendency of variation in the prevalence of *Campylobacter* amongst bird guilds (Waldenström et al., 2002). Other behaviours not directly related to diet can affect the composition of gut microbiota. For

example, preening can cause environmental bacteria in feathers to enter the gut and end up in the cloaca where they can be sexually transmitted between individuals (Kulkarni & Heeb, 2007).

In recent years, research has been shifting from the detection of certain bacterial species or types of bacteria (e.g. pathogens) towards the study of total gut microbial communities for wild bird species (Waite & Taylor, 2015). Characterizing cloacal bacteria according to carbon use clustered the bacterial communities of various bird species from the order Passeriformes according to the species' diet (Maul, Gandhi, & Farris, 2005). The gut microbiome of two passerine species differed between the spring and fall migrations (Lewis et al., 2016) and between migrating and resident shorebirds (Risely, Waite, Ujvari, Hoye, & Klaassen, 2018), suggesting that environment, and possibly the highly changing diet at stopover sites, has a strong influence on the avian microbiome. Dewar *et al.* (2013) studied the gastrointestinal microbiota of four penguin species and observed that there is variation among individuals of the same species. Although a specific cause for this variation was not determined, it was suggested that diet could play an important role in the gut microbial composition of an individual. Results from a meta-analysis of the avian gut microbiota by Waite and Taylor (2014) illustrate that, even among phylogenetically and behaviourally diverse species, diet has an important effect on the gut microbiome composition.

Recent studies have observed that the contaminants a host comes into contact with can have an effect on their microbiome. Changes in the microbiome caused by these compounds have been associated with negative effects in the host's physiology and metabolism, in some cases leading to disease (Lu, Mahbub, & Fox, 2015). The microbiome of earthworms significantly changed when they were grown in soils treated with inorganic Hg and MeHg, and an increase in MeHg in the soils treated with inorganic Hg suggests that the bacteria inhabiting the bodies of earthworms were able to methylate the Hg in the soil (Rieder, Brunner, Daniel, Liu, & Frey, 2013). Lu *et al.* (2014) found that arsenic causes significant variation in the composition of the mice gut microbiome which gives rise to the modification of the gut microbial metabolome. In the case of isopods, it has also been observed that the diversity of gut bacterial communities are affected by the ingestion of Hg in the diet (by chronic and acute exposure) of their isopod host (Lapanje, Rupnik, & Drobne, 2007; Lapanje et al., 2010). Additionally, there were larger number of Hg resistant bacteria in the guts of isopods from Hg polluted environments (Lapanje et al., 2010).

The presence of *merA*, a gene which encodes the mercuric reductase, one of the main proteins involved in the reduction of  $Hg^{2+}$  into  $Hg^{0}$ , was used as evidence to suggest that gut bacteria may help their host detoxify the Hg it consumes. In mice, gut bacteria may also stimulate their hosts ability to excrete Hg (Rowland, Robinson, & Doherty, 1984), which is believed to be caused by demethylation of the consumed MeHg (Rowland, 1988). Another study showed that Hg methylation could occur inside the intestines of various fish species (Rudd, Furutani, & Turner, 1980). Thus, studying gut bacteria may be useful to understand the cycling of Hg in Arctic food webs.

#### 1.5. Research questions

Bacteria play key roles on various aspects of the life history of animals, but they are not traditionally taken into consideration by ecologists and ecotoxicologists. Understanding what is the relationship between bacteria and the feeding behaviour of an ecologically-relevant species, such as the thick-billed murre, could potentially allow a better understanding of this seabird. To the date, no studies have been made attempting to link the gut microbiome of thick-billed murres with IPS, or the presence of sulfate-reducing bacteria in thick-billed murre food webs with Hg

bioaccumulation. The three main questions (illustrated in Figure 3) that this thesis will aim to answer are:

- (1) What are the Hg accumulation patterns of a food web used by thick-billed murres?(Chapter 1)
- (2) Is there a significant influence of the activity of sulfate-reducing bacteria on Hg accumulation in the Canadian Arctic? (Chapter 1)
- (3) Is there a difference in gut microbial diversity for the various types of prey specialists?(Chapter 2)

These questions lead us propose the following hypotheses along with their respective predictions:

- <u>Hypothesis 1</u>. Hg accumulation depends on multiple factors of an individual's diet such as trophic position and feeding habitat.

*Prediction*: Increase in trophic position and selection of deep benthic feeding habitats, as assessed by  $\delta^{15}$ N and  $\delta^{34}$ S respectively, are key drivers of Hg bioaccumulation for the food web used by the thick-billed murre.

- <u>Hypothesis 2.</u> Hg bioaccumulation depends on contact with Hg methylation hotspots more than trophic interactions.

*Prediction:*  $\delta^{34}$ S will have a larger impact than  $\delta^{15}$ N on Hg accumulation in Arctic food webs.

<u>Hypothesis 3:</u> Individual prey specialization shapes the thick-billed murre gut microbiome.
*Prediction:* Bacterial diversity varies with the type of IPS and individuals with different types of specializations will also have different gut microbiomes.



**Figure 1. 3.** Schematic illustrating the research questions the thesis aims to answer. Photo credit for the mercury image: ©g0b / Adobe Stock. All other images were taken and edited by Esteban Góngora.

### **Connecting text:**

To answer the first and second research questions, in Chapter 2 we investigate Hg accumulation in a Coats Island trophic web using stable isotope analysis, with a special focus on the role that bacteria play in the accumulation of this heavy metal. Our objective was to determine the driving factors that caused Hg bioaccumulation through the various prey items that thick-billed murres consume.

# Chapter 2. Nitrogen and sulfur isotopes predict variation in mercury levels in Arctic seabird prey

#### Note on this chapter

This chapter corresponds exactly to the paper titled "Nitrogen and sulfur isotopes predict variation in mercury levels in Arctic seabird prey" published in Marine Pollution Bulletin (Góngora et al., 2018b) which was made in collaboration with Birgit M. Braune from Environment and Climate Change Canada and Kyle H. Elliott from McGill University. Esteban Góngora performed the data analysis and wrote the manuscript. Samples were collected and processed as part of a previous study (Braune et al., 2014a). Birgit M. Braune and Kyle H. Elliott provided the data from a subsample of the results of the previous study (Braune et al., 2014a) and additional analyses performed on the samples for the present publication. Birgit M. Braune and Kyle H. Elliott also critically edited the manuscript.

#### 2.1. Abstract

Mercury (Hg) biotransformation and biomagnification are processes that affect Hg burdens in wildlife. To interpret variation in Hg in seabird eggs, used as Hg bioindicators in the Arctic, it is important to understand how Hg biomagnifies through the food web. We evaluated the use of  $\delta^{34}$ S, along with other commonly used stable isotope signatures ( $\delta^{15}$ N and  $\delta^{13}$ C), for the determination of possible sources of Hg in an Arctic food web (56 individuals of 15 species of fish and invertebrates). Hg correlated with  $\delta^{34}$ S ( $R^2 = 0.72$ ). When the combined effects of  $\delta^{34}$ S and  $\delta^{15}$ N were considered in mixed-effects models, both  $\delta^{34}$ S and  $\delta^{15}$ N together described Hg patterns in Arctic food webs better than either isotope alone. Our results demonstrate the usefulness of  $\delta^{34}$ S to account for variation in Hg among marine animals and to study the possible underlying effects that MeHg production may have on Hg pathways in Arctic ecosystems.

#### 2.2. Introduction

Human activity directly and indirectly produces multiple sources of pollutants that are affecting and modifying the environment (Persson et al., 2013; Rockström et al., 2009). For example, mercury (Hg) deposition has increased three-fold since preindustrial times (Driscoll et al., 2013; Selin, 2009). Currently, 1900-4000 t are released into the atmosphere every year from human primary sources (Driscoll et al., 2013; Selin, 2009). Hg poses a special threat to polar regions (Fort et al., 2014; Kirk et al., 2012). Hg speciation between its volatile and deposited forms can lead to processes such as global distillation and mercury depletion events during which Hg is transferred from equatorial or temperate regions into polar environments (Ariya et al., 2004; B. Braune et al., 2015; O'Driscoll et al., 2005; Rigét et al., 2011; Skov et al., 2004). Between 208 to 305 tons of Hg are deposited each year in the Arctic due to these types of processes despite local emissions in the region being low (Ariya et al., 2004; Skov et al., 2004). Mercury is most toxic in its organic form, methylmercury (MeHg), which is also easily assimilated and bioaccumulated by organisms (Dietz et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2008).

Animals, particularly seabirds, can be used to monitor contaminants in ecosystems because they can integrate signals over large foraging areas and return to a central site (colony) where they can be sampled relatively easily (Elliott & Elliott, 2013; Elliott & Elliott, 2016; Furness & Camphuysen, 1997). Dietary analyses can be used to determine whether increasing Hg concentrations in animal tissue are due to an increase of available MeHg in the ocean or due to changes in the animal's feeding habits (Elliott & Elliott, 2016; Kidd et al., 1995; McKinney et al., 2015, 2010). Stable isotope ratios have been widely used as indicators of trophic level and feeding location when quantifying Hg in tissues (Atwell et al., 1998; Nisbet et al., 2002; Overman & Parrish, 2001; Vo et al., 2011).

The  $\delta^{15}$ N ratio (<sup>15</sup>N to <sup>14</sup>N, expressed in relation to an international isotopic reference) is an index of the relative trophic position of an organism as <sup>15</sup>N content increases with trophic level (Carr et al., 2017; Hobson et al., 1994). As differences in dietary trophic level can explain significant proportions of Hg variation, especially when temporal trends are being studied, correcting for the  $\delta^{15}$ N ratio can help to control for this confounding effect (Fig. 1: 'trophic position hypothesis'; Bentzen et al., 2016; Kidd et al., 1995; McKinney et al., 2012; Vo et al., 2011). Another commonly used isotope signature is the ratio of  ${}^{13}C$  to  ${}^{14}C$ ,  $\delta^{13}C$  (as expressed relative to an international isotopic reference), which can describe changes in food sources associated with habitat to a greater degree than trophic level. For example, benthic feeding organisms are enriched in <sup>13</sup>C compared to pelagic feeders (Carr et al., 2017; Hobson et al., 1994; Nisbet et al., 2002) and terrigenous organic carbon is associated with lower  $\delta^{13}$ C values compared to marine carbon (Foster et al., 2012; Schell et al., 1998). Differential feeding from diverse habitats may cause variation in the Hg concentrations uptaken (Fig. 1: 'habitat variation hypothesis'). For instance, if Hg levels are higher in one habitat (i.e. benthos) than another habitat (i.e. pelagic waters), due to long range transport or other mechanisms, then an association between Hg and isotopic values might be expected. For example, fish that were originally river residents had higher Hg than other fish caught in the same rivers and that migrated from a lake;  $\delta^{13}$ C and  $\delta^{34}$ S (see below) could distinguish between the river residents and the lake migrants (Carr et al., 2017). These commonly used ratios can help to elucidate observed differences in Hg concentrations that are the result of the animal's feeding habits but fail to account for an important aspect of the mercury cycle that is independent of top predator's life history, the production of MeHg.

Sulfate-reducing bacteria (and iron-reducing or methanogenic bacteria, to a lesser extent) are the main drivers of the conversion of inorganic Hg into MeHg in many environments (Driscoll

et al., 2013; Morel et al., 1998; Selin, 2009). These bacteria, which inhabit anoxic aquatic environments, use sulfate as the final electron acceptor for respiration and can methylate Hg during the process, presumably by the involvement of the acetyl-coenzyme A pathway (Parks et al., 2013; Pollman & Axelrad, 2014; Selin, 2009). The central role played by the sulfate-reducing bacteria suggests that the production of MeHg is not limited by the initial concentration of inorganic Hg but rather by sulfate concentrations and, thus, sulfate reduction rates. The addition of an inhibitor of sulfate reduction to anoxic sediments led to an almost complete reduction of MeHg production (Compeau & Bartha, 1985). Similarly, no methylation occurred in cultures of sulfate-reducing bacteria where no sulfate was added (King et al., 2000). Increased concentration of available sulfate in sediments and lakes led to an increase in MeHg production (Gilmour et al., 1992). As these bacteria respire, sulfur in the water column is converted from sulfate to sulfide causing the remaining sulfate to become enriched in the heavier sulfur isotope, <sup>34</sup>S (Krouse & Mayer, 2000; Peterson & Fry, 1987). This makes the <sup>34</sup>S to <sup>32</sup>S ratio as expressed relative to an international isotopic reference,  $\delta^{34}$ S, useful for the detection of sulfate reduction and, thus, mercury methylation via sulfate-reducing bacteria, so that variation in environmental MeHg levels can be accounted for (Fig. 1: 'sulfate availability hypothesis'; Elliott and Elliott 2016). Conversely, if sulfate-reducing bacteria are limited by factors other than sulfate, we may expect a negative relationship between  $\delta^{34}$ S and Hg (Carr et al., 2017; Fry & Chumchal, 2012). High levels of sulfide associated with low  $\delta^{34}$ S values could be indicative of the active presence of sulfate-reducing bacteria (which, if limited by factors other than sulfate abundance, would convert most sulfate into sulfide) leading to higher methylation rates and thus, higher Hg bioaccumulation potential (Fig. 1: 'sulfide abundance hypothesis').



**Figure 2.1.** Hypotheses for relationship between Hg and isotopes tested within this paper: trophic position hypothesis, sulfate availability hypothesis, sulfide abundance hypothesis, and habitat variation hypothesis.

Thick-billed murres (*Uria lomvia*) are a key monitoring species for mercury in the Canadian Arctic (Birgit M. Braune, 2007; Birgit M. Braune et al., 2016). A recent study showed that variation in Hg among both thick-billed murres and their prey was associated with variation in  $\delta^{15}N$  (Braune et al., 2014a; Braune et al., 2014b). A dietary shift towards prey lower in  $\delta^{15}N$ 

masked an increase in Hg across time, and accounting for variation in  $\delta^{15}$ N improved assessment of Hg trends over time (Braune et al., 2014b). Our study aims to compare the usefulness of  $\delta^{34}$ S, along with  $\delta^{15}$ N and  $\delta^{13}$ C, for the determination of Hg bioaccumulation sources in Arctic food webs. To this end, we sampled individuals from 15 species of fish and invertebrates that are common prey of thick-billed murres breeding at Coats Island in northern Hudson Bay. We predicted that Hg levels would be associated with both sulfate availability ( $\delta^{34}$ S) and trophic position ( $\delta^{15}$ N).

#### 2.3. Materials and Methods

#### Sample Collection and Preparation

Representative samples of small fish and invertebrates were collected opportunistically from the breeding ledges of thick-billed murres at Coats Island ( $62^{\circ}98'N$ ,  $82^{\circ}00'W$ ) in northern Hudson Bay, Nunavut, Canada (see Braune et al. 2014a for details). Fifty-four individuals from 15 species were collected between 2007 and 2009. The samples were a subsample of those analyzed as part of Braune et al. (2014a), and Hg and  $\delta^{15}N$  data used in this study were presented in that paper. Species sampled included Arctic cod (*Boreogadus saida*), capelin (*Mallotus villosus*), sand lance (*Ammodytes* spp.), Atlantic poacher (*Leptagonus decagonus*), Arctic shanny (*Stichaeus punctatus*), daubed shanny (*Leptoclinus maculatus*), banded gunnel (*Pholis fasciata*), fish doctor (*Gymnelus viridis*), fourline snake blenny (*Eumesogrammus praecisus*), sculpin (*Cottidae*), snailfish (*Liparis* sp.), sea butterfly (*Clione limacina*), squid (*Gonatus fabricii*), gammarid (*Gammaridae*), euphausiids (*Euphausiacea*), and jellyfish (*Medusozoa*). Fresh fish and invertebrates collected from the ledges were identified and measured as described by Elliott and Gaston (2008). Samples were washed, individually wrapped in foil, placed in plastic bags and
frozen at -20 °C in the field before being shipped to the National Wildlife Research Centre (NWRC), Ottawa, Ontario, where they were stored at -40 °C prior to chemical analysis. Fish were analyzed either individually or as composite samples (pools) comprised of 2–8 fish (see Braune et al. 2014a). Pooled samples were created by taking equal aliquots from each fish. In some cases, only sagittal sections were available after the other half of the fish was used for fatty acid analyses, but it was assumed that the sagittal sections were representative of the whole fish.

#### Mercury and Stable Isotope Analysis

For Hg quantification, samples were homogenized, freeze-dried, homogenized again, and weighed into nickel combustion boats. Total Hg was analyzed using an Advanced Mercury Analyzer (AMA-254) equipped with an ASS-254 autosampler for solid samples as described elsewhere (EPA Method 7473; see Braune et al. 2014a for details). Stable isotope analyses for  $\delta^{34}$ S,  $\delta^{15}$ N, and  $\delta^{13}$ C were performed on the homogenate at the G. G. Hatch Stable Isotope Laboratory (Ottawa, ON;  $\delta^{15}$ N,  $\delta^{13}$ C, and all  $\delta^{34}$ S) or University of Winnipeg Stable Isotope Laboratory (Winnipeg, MB; only  $\delta^{15}$ N and  $\delta^{13}$ C), with no significant inter-lab variability as reported by Braune et al. (2014b). Homogenates were freeze-dried and powdered. Lipids were removed using a 2:1 chloroform: methanol soak and rinse. Stable nitrogen and carbon isotope assays were performed on 1 mg subsamples of homogenized material loaded into tin cups. Samples were analyzed using an isotope cube elemental analyzer (Elementar, Germany) interfaced with a Delta Advantage continuous-flow isotope ratio mass spectrometer (Thermo, Germany) coupled with a ConFlo III (Thermo, Germany). A glutamic acid laboratory standard was included for every 10 unknown samples. Quality control was maintained by running sample duplicates. All measurements are reported in standard  $\delta$ -notation in parts per thousand (‰) relative to the AIR international standard.

Replicate measurements of internal laboratory standards [C-55 (glutamic acid)] indicated measurement error of  $\pm 0.2\%$ , respectively. Stable sulfur isotope analyses were performed on 10 mg subsamples of the homogenized fish loaded into tin capsules (lipids were not extracted from homogenates as lipid extraction is known to alter  $\delta^{34}$ S and lipids should not contain sulfur; Elliott et al. 2014). Samples were analyzed with an isotope cube elemental analyzer (Elementar, Germany) interfaced with a Finnigan DeltaPlus XP isotope ratio mass spectrometer (Thermo Germany) coupled with a ConFlo IV (Thermo Germany). All measurements are reported in parts per thousand (‰) relative to the VDCT international standard. Calibrated internal standards were used to normalize the data with a precision of  $\pm 0.4\%$ .

#### Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were conducted in R 3.3.2 using linear models and linear mixed-effect models with Hg concentrations (log-transformed) as the dependent variable and isotope ratio values as the independent variables. Linear and mixed-effect models with single isotopes (only  $\delta^{15}$ N,  $\delta^{34}$ S, and  $\delta^{13}$ C) and groupings of two and all three isotopes ( $\delta^{15}$ N +  $\delta^{34}$ S;  $\delta^{15}$ N +  $\delta^{13}$ C;  $\delta^{34}$ S +  $\delta^{13}$ C; and  $\delta^{15}$ N +  $\delta^{34}$ S +  $\delta^{13}$ C) were included and ranked using Akaike's Information Criterion, adjusted for small sample sizes (AICc; Burnham and Anderson, 2002). With the linear models, for species which more than one individual was collected, we used a single average data point, which was averaged across all individuals of a given species; data for species with a single collected individual were also included in these models. With the mixed-effect models, data were not pooled and species was included as a random effect. We report *P*-values for all top models. The top 6 AIC<sub>c</sub> of the mixed-effect models with centralized predictors were used to develop a conditional model average (Grueber, Nakagawa, Laws, & Jamieson, 2011). Model averaging can rank and weigh these

models to obtain quantitative measures of relative support of each of the used model to a general, averaged model (Grueber et al., 2011).

## 2.4. Results

All three isotopes correlated weakly with each other (Fig. 2).  $\delta^{13}$ C and  $\delta^{15}$ N were positively correlated each other ( $t_{54} = 4.77$ , P < 0.00002).  $\delta^{34}$ S was negatively correlated with  $\delta^{13}$ C ( $t_{54} = -3.21$ , P < 0.003) and with  $\delta^{15}$ N ( $t_{54} = -3.46$ , P < 0.002). Using an average species value of the raw  $\delta^{15}$ N data (raw data available at: Góngora, Braune, & Elliott, 2018a), we observed that banded gunnels, poachers, fourline snake blennies, and Arctic shannies occupied the highest trophic position in the studied food web, and sea butterflies, gammarids, and jellyfish occupied the lowest.  $\delta^{13}$ C and  $\delta^{34}$ S (average value per species) imply that the species more associated with pelagic feeding habits were sea butterflies and jellyfish, and that the species with more benthic feeding habits included euphausiids, fourline snake blennies, daubed shannies, and poachers. However, the habitat assignation obtained from the values for those two isotopes were not always in accordance with each other;  $\delta^{13}$ C characterized sand lance as pelagic feeders while  $\delta^{34}$ S characterized them as benthopelagic feeders, for example. All data are archived at (Góngora et al., 2018a) and included in the Supplementary material.

For the data pooled by species (linear models), Hg variation was best explained by  $\delta^{34}$ S ( $t_{15}$  = -6.20, P < 0.00002) in accordance with the AIC<sub>c</sub> model selection (Table 1), as Hg decreased with increasing  $\delta^{34}$ S (Fig. 3). AIC<sub>c</sub> values and weights for the non-pooled data (mixed-effect models) did not show strong statistically significant evidence for the selection of a model (Table 1) but models including  $\delta^{13}$ C were discarded as this regression coefficient was not statistically

significant. The averaged mixed-effect model showed that the  $\delta^{15}N$  and  $\delta^{34}S$  ratios were both important in explaining Hg variation. Hg concentrations increased as  $\delta^{15}N$  values increased (averaged mixed-effect model, z = 2.96,  $P_{|z|} < 0.004$ ) and decreased with increasing  $\delta^{34}S$  (averaged mixed-effect model, z = 2.40,  $P_{|z|} < 0.02$ ).

	df	ΔAICc	AICc Weight		
Linear Model (pooled by species)					
Null	2	18.604	$9.09  imes 10^{-05}$		
δ <sup>13</sup> C	3	12.952	0.00153395		
$\delta^{15}N$	3	12.304	0.00212078		
$\delta^{34}$ S	3	0	0.99625437		
Mixed-effect Model (not pooled by species)					
Null	3	7.4295	0.01774927		
$\delta^{15}N$	4	2.4844	0.21036928		
$\delta^{34}S$	4	5.6455	0.04330757		
$\delta^{15}N + \delta^{34}S$	5	0	0.72857389		

Table 2.1. Statistical output for models of Hg variation either pooled or not pooled by species.

## 2.5. Discussion

The  $\delta^{34}$ S ratio consistently explained variation in Hg levels, both across and within species. We observed a negative relationship between the  $\delta^{34}$ S and Hg concentrations which is consistent with the sulfide abundance hypothesis (Fig. 1).  $\delta^{15}$ N explained variation in Hg levels when all individual samples were included (mixed-effect models), in support of the trophic position hypothesis. Thus, across an Arctic food web from zooplankton to predatory fish, trophic position and sulfide abundance (an index of the abundance of sulfate-reducing bacteria and their activity) together predicted levels of Hg. We urge the inclusion of  $\delta^{34}$ S, alongside the commonly used  $\delta^{15}$ N, to predict levels of Hg in Arctic ecosystems.





**Figure 2.2.** Relationships between a)  $\delta^{13}$ C and  $\delta^{15}$ N, b)  $\delta^{13}$ C and  $\delta^{34}$ S, and c)  $\delta^{15}$ N and  $\delta^{34}$ S for Arctic fish and invertebrates from Coats Island. Data from all (N = 56) individual samples was included and was not pooled by species. See Figure 3 for species legend.



**Figure 2.3.** Log Hg decreased with  $\delta^{34}$ S for samples averaged by species. Error bars represent SE for a given species; for species with no error bars, only one individual was collected for that species.

Significant relationships between Hg and  $\delta^{34}$ S or  $\delta^{15}$ N have also been observed for fish and invertebrates from estuarine and freshwater environments (Table 2). An explanation for the consistent relationships with  $\delta^{34}$ S (8 out of 8 studies showing significant relationships, Table 2) compared with  $\delta^{15}$ N (4 out of 8 studies showing consistent significant relationships for all sites/samples/species included; studies with variable results of positive and negative were excluded) is that previous studies of marine ecosystems were generally focused on a species or multiple species that are at relatively the same trophic level (Bentzen et al., 2016; Elliott & Elliott,

2016; Ramos et al., 2013). Thus, differential Hg accumulation is more likely caused by other factors (e.g. sulfate availability and sulfide abundance) when highly variable trophic levels are not present. Elliott and Elliott (2016) present an example of how  $\delta^{34}$ S can explain patterns in Hg accumulation when  $\delta^{15}$ N cannot; seabirds feeding further offshore, with the highest levels of  $\delta^{34}$ S, had the highest Hg concentrations compared to other seabirds feeding nearshore. Thus, species such as Leach's storm-petrel (Oceanodroma leucorhoa) had high levels of Hg despite having low trophic position (Table 2). In that study, both Hg and  $\delta^{34}$ S declined over time in cormorants despite no variation in  $\delta^{15}N$ . If one only accounted for  $\delta^{15}N$  and not  $\delta^{34}S$ , researchers would have concluded that Hg was decreasing when, in actuality, it was only diet that had changed. Another example of the future potential  $\delta^{34}$ S as a complement of  $\delta^{15}$ N in the study of Hg bioaccumulation is the unexpected result observed for halibut in the western Aleutian region in Bentzen et al. (2016); this region had the lowest  $\delta^{15}N$  while having the highest Hg levels in the study. It is possible that a methylation hotspot could have been detected in this region if they would have also measured  $\delta^{34}$ S for the same individuals (see footnote 2 in Table 2). Finally, in our own study, daubed shanny had higher Hg than banded gunnel (as correctly predicted by  $\delta^{34}$ S) despite being 1.5% lower in  $\delta^{15}$ N.

Studied Organisms	Location	Marine / Freshwater	Hg - δ <sup>15</sup> N Correlation	Hg - δ <sup>34</sup> S Correlation	Reference
Fish and Invertebrates	Nunavut, Canada	Marine	Positive	Negative	This study
Seabirds	British Columbia, Canada	Marine	N/S	Positive	Elliott and Elliott, 2016

**Table 2.2.** Summary of published studies that use sulfur and nitrogen isotopes as explanatory variables for Hg concentrations.

Fish	Northwest Territories, Canada	Freshwater	Positive	Negative	Carr et al., 2017
Halibut	Alaska, USA	Marine	Negative <sup>1</sup>	Not studied <sup>2</sup>	Bentzen et al., 2016
Cormorants	Ontario,	Both	Negative to	Negative <sup>3</sup>	Lavoie et
and Terns	Canada	Dom	$N/S^3$	regative	al., 2015
Yellow- legged gull	Eastern Iberian coast, Spain	Marine	N/S	Positive	Ramos et al., 2013
Fish	Ontario, Canada	Freshwater	N/S	Positive	Ethier et al., 2008
Fish and Invertebrates	Louisiana, USA	Estuary	Positive	Negative	Fry and Chumchal, 2012
Fish and	Missouri,	Frashwatar	Negative to	Negative to	Schmitt et
Invertebrates	USA	170511WatCl	Positive	Positive	al., 2011
Fish and Invertebrates	Nova Scotia, Canada	Freshwater	Positive	Negative to Positive <sup>4</sup>	Clayden et al. 2013, 2017

 ${}^{1}\delta^{15}$ N for the western Aleutian region was the lowest from the study while having the highest total Hg concentrations; for the rest of the sites the correlation was positive. <sup>2</sup>Although this study doesn't analyze the  $\delta^{34}$ S ratio, it does consider that a possible source of high Hg levels is marine Hg methylation, which could be evidenced if the  $\delta^{34}$ S signature for the studied sites was measured. <sup>3</sup>At the <sup>13</sup>C-rich site, low  $\delta^{15}$ N was associated with high total Hg values for cormorants while low  $\delta^{34}$ S was associated with high total Hg for both cormorants and terns. <sup>4</sup>The relationship between  $\delta^{34}$ S and Hg (total Hg and MeHg) was negative when data for all fish and invertebrates within a given lake were combined. Relationships for species considered individually were not significant, except for yellow perch, which was negative among all but one of the studied lakes.

The negative correlation between  $\delta^{34}$ S and Hg observed in our study is consistent with the sulfide abundance hypothesis (high sulfide abundance evidencing high methylation and high Hg accumulation). Where bacteria are limited by sulfate availability, one might expect a positive

relationship between bacteria and sulfate as areas with high sulfate abundance can sustain high bacteria populations (Fig. 1). However, where bacteria are limited by other factors (such as oxygen concentrations, competition with other biota, sulfate recycling, temperature, presence of compounds complexing with Hg, or MeHg photodegradation; Marschall et al. 1993, Muyzer and Stams 2008, Point et al. 2011, Schaefer et al. 2011, O'Driscoll et al. 2011, Graham et al. 2012, Antler et al. 2013, St. Pierre et al. 2014, Schartup et al. 2015), one could expect that the abundance of sulfide might be an index of sulfate-reducing bacteria (more bacteria, more sulfate reduction, more sulfide), so that there is a negative relationship between bacteria, mercury, and  $\delta^{34}$ S. Both possibilities could explain the results presented in Table 2. As future studies continue to use  $\delta^{34}$ S, along with other commonly used stable isotope ratios, such as  $\delta^{15}$ N, recurring patterns will permit better understanding of  $\delta^{34}$ S and its association with Hg. Increasing sampling efforts in the Arctic will help us to explain the role sulfur stable isotopes play in Hg accumulation in the Arctic marine ecosystems.

Previous studies used  $\delta^{34}$ S primarily as a spatial indicator of the origin of food sources in parallel to how  $\delta^{13}$ C is used and, thus, those studies used  $\delta^{34}$ S to demonstrate differential Hg levels for samples originating from different habitats (i.e. lake vs. river or marine vs. freshwater vs. estuarine; Hobson 1999, Fry and Chumchal 2012, Lavoie et al. 2015, Carr et al. 2017). Indeed, the negative correlation could also be caused by spatial differences in the animals' feeding strategies (Fig. 1: 'habitat variation hypothesis'). Fry and Chumchal (2012) suggest the presence of Hg hotspots that may arise due to the interaction of sulfate-reducing bacteria with aquatic macrophytes and epiphytes. As most of the fish and invertebrates in our study are carnivorous, such an interaction was not considered. However, zooplankton feeding on particulate organic material and algae can play a central role in the introduction of MeHg into the food web (Chételat, Poulain, Amyot, Cloutier, & Hintelmann, 2014; Pućko et al., 2014), and similar processes may be involved at our study site. Interactions at different levels of the ecosystem could cause the observed trends in our study. Foster et al. (2012) suggest that studying animals in low trophic position could provide information on what is occurring at higher trophic positions in terms of Hg trends. Foster et al. (2012) also emphasized that using  $\delta^{15}N$  as a predictor of trophic level and trophic magnification factors is only meaningful if the specific interactions within a given food web can be identified. This proposal comes in opposition to using an entire data set without clearly identifying the species included and whether they co-occurred across food webs. Given that our sampling strategy depended on what the thick-billed murres brought back to their nests, it was not possible to characterize the entire food web in such detail but future studies should consider having greater sampling efforts that would allow for better descriptions of entire Arctic food webs. Some of the trends reported by Foster et al. (2012) might be clarified if  $\delta^{34}$ S were also measured, and, indeed the lack of a correlation with  $\delta^{15}N$  may be due to variation in sulfate-reducing bacteria at the base of their food web rather than variation in food web interactions.

Other possible causes for the inverse correlation between Hg and  $\delta^{34}$ S are high inputs of terrestrial carbon and organic matter originating from rivers and thaw ponds flowing into the Canadian Arctic Ocean, especially Hudson Bay, and the consequent external sources of Hg entering the food web (Braune et al., 2015; Braune et al., 2005; Foster et al., 2012; MacMillan, Girard, Chételat, Laurion, & Amyot, 2015). Dissolved organic matter (DOM) can increase Hg bioavailability by forming Hg nanoparticles that are taken up more easily by sulfate-reducing bacteria (Graham et al., 2012). Additionally, Hg methylation has been detected in methanogenic archaea that were isolated from northern peat lands, which suggests that MeHg could be imported from terrestrial environments through runoffs during thawing events in the summer months

(Gilmour et al., 2013). Although  $\delta^{13}$ C, widely-used to distinguish between terrestrial and marine carbon sources, was not a significant predictor of Hg concentration patterns in our dataset, sulfur isotopes may be used to distinguish Hg sources (Fig. 1: 'habitat variation hypothesis'). The negative association between  $\delta^{34}$ S and Hg could have been caused by species with low  $\delta^{34}$ S (more terrestrial input; Lott et al. 2003) feeding on prey more closely associated with high-Hg terrestrial runoffs. A marine-terrestrial cut-off, initially used to distinguish between high  $\delta^{34}$ S marine raptors from other coastal birds with lower  $\delta^{34}$ S, was established at a value of 10‰ (Lott et al., 2003). Despite the large extent of the Hudson Bay watershed, we argue that terrestrial input was likely low in our system, given that our lowest  $\delta^{34}$ S value was 13.7‰. Regardless, Hg bioaccumulation in freshwater and saltwater Arctic ecosystems, and the interaction between the two, is complex and warrants further study (Chételat et al., 2015; Chételat, Amyot, Cloutier, & Poulain, 2008).

Even though thick-billed murres are a highly-studied species in the Arctic, not much is known about the ecology of the prey they consume. Our stable isotope data can help elucidate some of the characteristics of these animals. As expected, zooplankton species such as gammarids and sea butterflies occupy a low trophic position. However, euphausiids (though we only studied one species) had a higher  $\delta^{15}$ N than the rest of the studied zooplankton, even though euphausiids mostly feed on phytoplankton. Unlike fish, euphausiids have a relatively low MeHg:Hg ratio, and it is possible that the high level of Hg in euphausiids is not indicative of a high level of methylmercury. Fish occupied higher trophic positions, suggesting they feed on invertebrates (intermediate  $\delta^{15}$ N values; i.e. capelin) or on other fish (high  $\delta^{15}$ N values; i.e. sculpin). Nonetheless, if species foraged in different food webs, with different baselines or discrimination factors, then  $\delta^{15}$ N may be an imperfect measure of trophic position (Foster et al., 2012). In general,  $\delta^{13}$ C and  $\delta^{34}$ S allowed us to describe the feeding habits of various fish and invertebrates. Capelin, sea butterflies, and jellyfish are associated with pelagic feeding, while daubed shannies and fourline snake blennies are benthic feeders. However, for some other species, the resolution of the isotope ratios included in our study was not sufficient to clearly determine a feeding habit (i.e. sculpin, a benthic species, has intermediate values suggesting it is a benthopelagic feeder) or the isotopes evidenced different results, as occurred for sand lance. Whereas the  $\delta^{13}$ C signal implied that sand lance fed primarily in pelagic waters, as they come to the surface at night to feed;  $\delta^{34}$ S, in contrast, implied that sand lance were benthic feeders.

## 2.6. Conclusions

Stable isotopes are a valuable tool for understanding multiple aspects of the ecology and toxicology of marine fauna which, otherwise, could not be studied. Using isotope ratios other than the more traditional  $\delta^{15}N$  and  $\delta^{13}C$  can expand our knowledge of multiple biological systems that cannot be completely explained. Given the ubiquity of Hg in polar ecosystems, we encourage the incorporation of  $\delta^{34}S$  into Hg monitoring plans in the Arctic, along with more detailed studies of the links between  $\delta^{34}S$ , Hg, MeHg, sulfate and sulfate-reducing bacteria.

## 2.7. Acknowledgements

We thank J. Chételat, M. McKinney and an anonymous reviewer for discussions and comments on an earlier version of this manuscript. Funding of the field work (prey collection) was provided by Environment and Climate Change Canada, Fisheries and Oceans Canada, the Nunavut Wildlife Management Board, and International Polar Year 2007–2009. Analyses of Hg as well as carbon and nitrogen stable isotopes were funded by the Northern Contaminants Program of Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada (grant M-20). Sulfur isotope analysis was funded by the Canada Research Chair in Arctic Ecology. We thank Tony Gaston, Grant Gilchrist, Josiah Nakoolak, Jennifer Provencher, Paul Smith, and Kerry Woo for help collecting prey samples and organizing field seasons. Thanks also to Natural Resources Canada (Polar Continental Shelf Program) and Rick Armstrong at the Nunavut Research Institute for helping with logistics.

## 2.8. Conflicts of Interest

None

## 2.9. Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.07.075.

## **Connecting text:**

To answer the third research question of whether there is a difference in gut microbial diversity for the various types of prey specialists, in Chapter 3 we describe the gut microbiome of the thickbilled murre and its association with murre diet and the stable isotope ratios used in Chapter 2 ( $\delta^{34}$ S,  $\delta^{15}$ N, and  $\delta^{13}$ C). Our objective was to determine how the gut microbiome changed with the diet of different individuals and whether the stable isotope ratios that help to describe Hg accumulation patterns in food webs are also associated with changes in microbial community composition.

# Chapter 3. Individual prey specialization is associated with gut microbiome in seabirds

### Note on this chapter

This chapter corresponds exactly to the manuscript titled "Individual prey specialization is associated with gut microbiome in seabirds" which will be submitted to FEMS Microbiology Ecology. The manuscript was made in collaboration with Lyle G. Whyte and Kyle H. Elliott from McGill University. Esteban Góngora performed the sample collection and processing, the data analysis and wrote the manuscript. Lyle G. Whyte and Kyle H. Elliott contributed with the overall experimental design and planning and helped to critically edit the manuscript.

## 3.1. Abstract

The role of the gut microbiome is increasingly being recognized by ecologists due to the importance of microorganisms in the life cycle of many animals. At the same time, there is growing awareness of the presence of individual prey specialization within populations of the same species. Variations in the gut microbiome could be the result of individual prey specialization. We evaluated the hypothesis that diet alters gut microbiome by testing the prediction that gut microbiome varies with sex, reproductive stage, and diet types. We present the first description of the fecal microbiome of the thick-billed murre (*Uria lomvia*) through a metabarcoding survey from samples collected in Coats Island (Canada) in 2017. We show the presence of large inter-individual variation in the composition of the gut microbiome occurring in murres. There were differences in unweighted UniFrac distances between males and females (PERMANOVA; P = 0.018) and incubating and chick-rearing birds (PERMANOVA; P = 0.006). The murre microbiome is dominated by bacteria belonging to the genus *Catellicoccus*, ubiquitous in the guts of many seabirds. We also present evidence of the possible role of bacteria in uric acid recycling which aids their host in compensating for nutritional deficiencies that may be encountered.

## 3.2. Introduction

Individual prey specialization (IPS) is a widely distributed phenomenon occurring in a large number of taxa (Bolnick et al., 2003, 2002) in which individuals of the same population use prey resources differentially. Thus, generalist populations may actually be composed of multiple specialist individuals (Provencher et al., 2013). Although IPS is well-documented and some mechanisms such as constraint in foraging performance, disruptive selection by sex, changes in morphology, variation in social status and mating strategy have been described, the causes of IPS remain poorly understood (Bolnick et al., 2003; Ceia & Ramos, 2015; Woo et al., 2008).

The role of bacteria in trophic interactions of top predators is increasingly being appreciated. For instance, bacterial biofilms can be important food sources for western sandpipers (Kuwae et al., 2008), bacteria can control levels of methylmercury in wild birds (Góngora et al., 2018b) and alterations in the microbiome of wild animals may be associated with variation in diet (Bolnick et al., 2014; Bolnick et al., 2014). Variation in diet composition was linked to changes in the gut microbiome in wild sticklebacks and perches, two fish species that present IPS (Bolnick et al., 2014; Bolnick et al., 2014). These studies also show that other types of interactions changing the feeding behaviour (e.g. differential diets between sexes) can explain variation in the microbiome (Bolnick et al., 2014; Lewis et al., 2016). The gut microbiome may also be crucial for the adaptation of the vertebrate host to ecological pressures, such rapid environmental change or adverse conditions (Alberdi et al., 2016; Ben-Yosef et al., 2010; Lapanje et al., 2010; Lewis et al., 2016).

Bacterial communities change in structure and function throughout different sections of the gastrointestinal tract with bacteria associated with polysaccharide degradation and lactate fermentation occurring primarily in the crop, with less diverse communities in the proventriculus

and ventriculus due to the low pH, where and with the highest diversity of bacteria observed in the intestines, especially the ceca, fulfilling functions such as carbohydrate fermentation, production of vitamins and essential amino acids, and nitrogen waste compound recycling (Oakley et al., 2014; Sergeant et al., 2014; Waite & Taylor, 2014). Uric acid is the primary nitrogenous waste compound excreted by various animal groups such as birds, and some reptiles and insects (Karasawa, 1999; Kohl, 2012; Thong-On et al., 2012). Uric acid comes into contact with the gut microbial communities in birds due to the proximity of the urogenital and intestinal tracts in the cloaca (Kreisinger et al., 2017). Uric acid can travel from the cloaca into the ceca via the rectum due to retrograde peristalsis (Kohl, 2012; Pan & Yu, 2014; Vecherskii et al., 2015; Vispo & Karasov, 1997). Once in the ceca, bacteria can degrade the transported uric acid into ammonia which can be re-absorbed and transformed by birds into nonessential amino acids, such as glutamine (Mortensen & Tindall, 1981a; Vispo & Karasov, 1997). Uric acid is normally fermented by anaerobic bacteria into ammonia, short-chained fatty acids such as acetic acid, and carbon dioxide (Kane, 1997; Mortensen & Tindall, 1981b; Vispo & Karasov, 1997). There are multiple examples of uricolytic bacteria present in the intestines of birds from the order Galliformes, ducks, and even hummingbirds, which do not possess ceca (Kohl, 2012). Microbial uric acid recycling may enable the black grouse (Lyrurus tetrix) to reuse amounts of uric acid equal to their daily dietary nitrogen intake (Vecherskii et al., 2015). Uric acid recycling also occurs in eastern subterranean termites (Reticulitermes flavipes) where, despite the fact these termites have the ability to produce this compound, no uric acid is excreted but is rather taken up by gut bacteria and up to 30% of the total nitrogen in a termite colony can be recycled uric acid nitrogen (Kane, 1997).

Most of the studies of the effects of diet on the avian gut microbiome are based on domestic or captive birds (chickens: Apajalahti *et al.* 2001; Apajalahti and Kettunen 2006; Oakley *et al.* 

2014; raptors: Bangert *et al.* 1988) and have mainly focused on the detection of specific groups or species of bacteria (mostly pathogens; Soucek and Mushin 1970; Mead *et al.* 1983; Waldenström *et al.* 2002). Recently, total gut microbial communities for wild bird species have started to be described (Waite & Taylor, 2015). Maul, Gandhi and Farris (2005) characterized cloacal bacteria according to carbon use and clustered the bacterial communities of various passerine bird species according to the bird's diet. The gut microbiome of two passerine species differed between spring and fall migrations (Lewis et al., 2016) and between migrating and resident shorebirds (Risely et al., 2018), suggesting that the environment, and possibly diet, has a strong influence on the microbiote of four penguin species, which may have been associated with IPS. Results from the meta-analysis of the avian gut microbiota by Waite and Taylor (2014) illustrate that, even among phylogenetically and behaviourally diverse species, diet has an important effect on the gut microbiome composition.

Thick-billed murres (*Uria lomvia*; murres, from hereafter) are seabirds found in a wide range of sites throughout the Arctic. Murres are considered to be a generalist species but they present various degrees and types of IPS within the same population that is maintained within individuals across many years (Elliott et al., 2009; Woo et al., 2008). Sex-specific feeding behaviours are also present, with males and females feeding at different times of the day while their mate stays at the colony taking care of their egg or chick (Elliott et al., 2010; Paredes et al., 2006). This behaviour may lead to different types of prey being caught by each sex due to their abundance at different times of the day (Elliott et al., 2010). Females increase their trophic level when rearing chicks compared to when they are incubating their egg, although no significant changes of trophic level could be observed for males between the two reproductive stages (Elliott et al., 2010).

To the date, no research has clearly linked variation in gut microbiome in wild birds with IPS. In this study we describe for the first time the gut microbiome of the thick-billed murre. We aimed to test the hypothesis that diet alters gut microbiome by testing the prediction that gut microbiome varies with sex, stage, and stable isotope values.

## 3.3. Materials and Methods

#### Sample collection and preparation

Thick-billed murres (N = 36) were sampled between July and August 2017 at a breeding colony at Coats Island (62°98'N, 82°00'W) located in northern Hudson Bay, Nunavut, Canada. Murres were captured using a neck pole. Fecal samples were aesceptically taken by inserting sterile PurFlock Ultra swabs (Puritan Diagnostics, Guilford, ME) into the cloaca (Fig. S1). The swab was swirled inside the cloaca to stimulate the release of feces. The recovered fecal matter was collected in sterile Falcon tubes, mixed with absolute ethanol (4:1 ethanol to feces ratio) and stored at -20°C until processed. This process was done at two different time points with 2 - 7 days in between each sampling event (Table S1). Ethanol was removed from the samples by centrifugation: polypropylene tubes containing the samples were centrifuged at 4500 RPM and 4°C for 5 min and the supernatant was discarded. The pellet was resuspended in 2 mL of sterile deionized water, centrifuged at 4500 RPM and 4°C for 5 min and the supernatant was discarded once more to assure any remaining ethanol was removed from the collected feces. Blood was taken from the brachial vein using heparinized syringes. Red blood cells (RBCs) were separated from plasma by

centrifugation, stored in gaseous nitrogen, and transported to the processing facility where they were stored at -80°C until processed.

#### DNA Extraction and Sequencing

Due to the high content of contaminants present in avian feces (e.g. uric acid) which might inhibit DNA extractions (Eriksson *et al.* 2017), we modified the protocols of commercially used DNA extraction and purification kits to improve the quality of the obtained nucleic acids. DNA was extracted from the resulting pellets of the fecal samples using the DNeasy PowerLyzer PowerSoil kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions with minor modifications: samples were heated at 65°C for 10 min before bead beating, and, for the final elution step, nuclease-free water was heated to 70°C and used to elute the DNA. Extracted DNA was purified using Monarch PCR & DNA Cleanup Kit (New England Biolabs, Ipswitch, MA) according to the manufacturer's instructions with minor modifications: 20 µL of nuclease-free water heated to 70°C were used to elute the DNA.

The 16S rRNA gene was amplified using primers 515F and 926R (Parada, Needham, & Fuhrman, 2016) containing Illumina overhang adapter sequences. 25  $\mu$ L PCR reactions containing 1X HotStarTaq Master Mix (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany), 0.6  $\mu$ M of each primer, 0.4 mg mL<sup>-1</sup> BSA (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), and 1  $\mu$ L of DNA were performed under the following conditions: initial denaturation at 95°C for 15 min, followed by 25 to 35 cycles (depending on the DNA concentration of the sample) of 94°C for 1 min, 50°C for 45s, 72°C for 1 min, and a final extension step at 72°C for 10 min. Reactions were purified using Agencourt AMPure XP magnetic beads (0.8 bead-to-PCR volume ratio; Beckman Coulter, USA). Indexing was performed using the Nextera XT index kit (Illumina, San Diego, CA) following manufacturer's instructions with a

minor modification of 15 min at 95°C in the initial denaturation used to activate the polymerase (Qiagen HotStarTaq Master Mix). Indexed samples were purified with AMPure XP beads (1.12 bead-to-PCR volume ratio) and quantified using the Qubit fluorometer (Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). Samples (including negative controls of PCR reactions) were pooled in equimolar ratios of 4 nM and sequenced with a  $2 \times 250$  bp run with v2 chemistry on a MiSeq platform (Illumina, San Diego, CA).

#### Sequencing data and statistical analyses

Raw sequencing data was quality filtered, merged, denoised, and dereplicated. Chimeras were removed and a preliminary taxonomic assignment was undertaken with the Silva database (Quast et al., 2012) version 132 release and using DADA2 (Callahan et al., 2016). Sequencing data was then analyzed using Qiime 2 (Bolyen *et al.* 2018; release 2018.8.0). Based on the preliminary classification, amplicon sequence variants (ASVs) predominantly present in the negative controls and also present in the fecal sample data were removed, samples with fewer than 1000 sequences and the negative controls were removed from further analysis. Taxonomic classification was performed with the q2-feature-classifier multinomial naive Bayes classifier (Bokulich et al., 2018a) using the SSU Ref NR 99% Silva database (Quast et al., 2012) version 132 release. ASVs that were not assigned a taxonomic classification, and mitochondrial and chloroplastic ASVs, were removed. Samples were rarefied to a sequencing depth of 9308.

Diversity analyses were performed with the q2-diversity plugin. Shannon diversity (Shannon & Weaver, 1949), Pielou's evenness (Pielou, 1966) and Faith's phylogenetic diversity (Faith's PD; Faith 1992) were calculated for the different diet types, between sexes, and between reproductive stages (incubating vs. chick-rearing). Kruskal-Wallis rank tests (Kruskal & Wallis,

1952) were used to observe statistical differences between said groups according to the three diversity metrics used. Bray-Curtis dissimilarities (Sørensen, 1948), and weighted and unweighted UniFrac distances (Lozupone, Hamady, Kelley, & Knight, 2007; Lozupone & Knight, 2005) were calculated to observe the community structure of the murre gut microbiome. After testing for the homogeneity of multivariate dispersions (PERMDISP; Anderson 2006), differences in community structure for the distance measurements among diets, between sexes and between reproductive stages were calculated using the permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA; Anderson 2001). Principal Coordinates Analysis (PCoA) plots and biplots (Legendre & Legendre, 2012) were created with Emperor (Vázquez-Baeza et al., 2017; Vázquez-Baeza, Pirrung, Gonzalez, & Knight, 2013) to visualize the differences obtained with PERMANOVA. BIOENV rank correlation (Clarke & Ainsworth, 1993) was used to determine if any of the isotopic signatures or the carbon, nitrogen or sulfur percentages quantified in murre blood, or a combination of these variables, explained the community composition. Based on the results of BIOENV, Mantel tests (Mantel, 1967) were used to infer the Spearman rank correlation (Spearman, 1904) between the community distance matrices and the selected variables.

Repeatability was evaluated for birds where two samples were obtained using the q2longitudinal plugin (Bokulich et al., 2018b) to compare differences in terms of alpha diversity with the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (Wilcoxon, 1945). We also evaluated repeatability for the community composition between the two time points with R 3.5.1 by calculating the Pearson correlation (Pearson, 1895) for the weighted and unweighted UniFrac distances and the Spearman rank correlation for the Bray-Curtis dissimilarities after determining the normality of the distance metrics with the Shapiro-Wilk test (Shapiro & Wilk, 1965).

#### Stable isotope and elemental composition analysis

Stable isotope ratios have been used as indicators of trophic level and feeding location (Atwell et al., 1998; Nisbet et al., 2002; Overman & Parrish, 2001; Vo et al., 2011). Given that <sup>15</sup>N content increases with trophic level, the  $\delta^{15}$ N ratio (<sup>15</sup>N to <sup>14</sup>N, expressed in relation to an international isotopic reference) is an index of the relative trophic position of an organism (Carr et al., 2017; Hobson et al., 1994).  $\delta^{13}$ C, the ratio of <sup>13</sup>C to <sup>14</sup>C, (as expressed relative to an international isotopic reference), can describe changes in food sources associated with habitat to a greater degree than trophic level. Benthic feeding organisms are enriched in <sup>13</sup>C compared to pelagic feeders (Carr et al., 2017; Hobson et al., 1994; Nisbet et al., 2002). Because sulfate-reducing bacteria respire, sulfur in the water column is converted from sulfate to sulfide causing the remaining sulfate to become enriched in the heavier sulfur isotope, <sup>34</sup>S (Krouse & Mayer, 2000; Peterson & Fry, 1987). The <sup>34</sup>S to <sup>32</sup>S ratio as expressed relative to an international isotopic reference,  $\delta^{34}$ S, is useful for the detection of sulfate reduction and can be used to characterize food sources associated with anaerobic sediments, where sulfate reduction occurs (Elliott & Elliott, 2016; Góngora et al., 2018b).

Percentage of sulfur (%S) is positively associated with Hg accumulation as the S atm in amino acids containing sulfur, such as cysteine, are strong binding sites for methylmercury in tissue (Clayden et al., 2017; Lescord et al., 2018). Additionally, higher %S was associated with higher  $\delta^{15}$ N values in 6 lake food webs from Cornwallis Island in the Canadian high Arctic which suggests that the amount of S-containing amino acids increases with trophic level (Lescord et al., 2018). The carbon to nitrogen (C:N) ratio is often used as a proxy measurement for body condition given that the relative lipid concentration in tissues given the high carbon and low nitrogen content of lipids (Dempson, Braithwaite, Doherty, & Power, 2010; Fagan, Koops, Arts, & Power, 2011; Logan et al., 2008; Sweeting, Polunin, & Jennings, 2006). However, it must be noted that, the association between the C:N ratio and lipid content can be specific for each species and tissue type (Fagan et al., 2011; Sweeting et al., 2006).

RBCs were freeze-dried and powdered. Lipids were removed using a 2:1 chloroform: methanol soak and rinse. Stable isotope analyses for  $\delta^{15}N$ ,  $\delta^{13}C$ , and  $\delta^{34}S$  were performed by the G.G Hatch Stable Isotope Laboratory (Ottawa, ON) for 17 of the sampled birds that where also part of the Northern Contaminants Project of Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada. Stable nitrogen and carbon isotope assays were performed on 1 mg subsamples loaded into tin cups. Samples were analyzed using an isotope cube elemental analyzer (Elementar, Germany) interfaced with a Delta Advantage continuous-flow isotope ratio mass spectrometer (Thermo, Germany) coupled with a ConFlo III (Thermo, Germany). Replicate measurements of internal laboratory standards [C-55 (glutamic acid)] calibrated to international standards (IAEA-N1, IAEA-N2, USGS-40, and USGS-41 for  $\delta^{15}$ N and IAEA-CH-6, NBS-22, USGS-40 and USGS-41 for  $\delta C$ ) for every 10 unknown samples indicated measurement error of  $\pm 0.2\%$ . Quality control was maintained by running sample duplicates for every 10 samples and assuring that the relative percent difference is less than 5%. All measurements are reported in standard  $\delta$ -notation in parts per thousand (‰) relative to the AIR international standard. The percentages of carbon and nitrogen in the samples were also measured as part of this analysis. Stable sulfur isotope analyses were performed on 10 mg subsamples loaded into tin capsules. Samples were analyzed with an isotope cube elemental analyzer (Elementar, Germany) interfaced with a Finnigan DeltaPlus XP isotope ratio mass spectrometer (Thermo Germany) coupled with a ConFlo IV (Thermo Germany). All measurements are reported in parts per thousand (‰) relative to the VDCT international standard. Calibrated internal standards (S-6) were used to normalize the data with a precision of  $\pm 0.4\%$ . Quality control was maintained by running sample duplicates for every 10 samples and assuring that the relative percent difference is less than 5%. The percentage sulfur in the samples was also measured as part of this analysis.

#### Feces analysis

Murre feces could be categorized according to their color and consistency into one of three categories: red with fragments; yellow with a high oil content; and a diluted white paste (Fig. S1). Based on the known diet of birds from this murre colony, it is presumed that the red samples originated from a diet consisting mostly of arthropods and that the fragments could be parts of the exoskeletons that could not be digested (Croll, Gaston, Burger, & Konnoff, 1992). Yellow samples are assumed to belong to a diet consisting mostly on fish given the high content of fatty acids in Arctic fish (some yellow samples also had a green tint and were separated into a different category: green). We consider that white samples primarily consist of uric acid (Lonsdale & Sutor, 1971) excreted by birds that had not fed for an extended period. Some samples also presented combinations of white with yellow or red feces. These color categories will be used to describe the primary diet of the murres.

## **3.4.** Results

After denoising and filtering, a total of 7 232 547 16S rRNA gene reads with an average of 76 942  $\pm$  4960 S.E. reads per sample were obtained. We observed a large degree of inter-individual variation in the composition of the gut microbiome within the studied individuals (Fig. 1, Table S1). Firmicutes was the predominant phylum and ranged from over 12% to over 99% of the microbiome of the sampled murres with *Catellicoccus* being the dominant genus detected and

comprising 1.3% to 98.9% of an individual's gut microbiota (Fig. S2). Other major phyla in the murre gut microbiome include Fusobacteria, Proteobacteria, and Actinobacteria. In terms of taxonomy, we can see some general patterns with regards to the fecal color types (Fig. S3). Red samples were dominated by Firmicutes and, to a lesser extent, Fusobacteria. Yellow samples also had large proportions of Firmicutes and had a higher proportion of Fusobacteria, Proteobacteria, and Actinobacteria. White samples had, relatively, a smaller abundance of Firmicutes and had larger abundances of Proteobacteria and Actinobacteria. There is a strong influence of some ASVs on the composition of the murre gut microbiome (Fig. 2 and Fig. S4). Biplots representing the most important features determining the community composition and belonging to ASVs from the genus *Catellicoccus* were present in the PCoA plots of all three metrics. *Breznakia, Cetobacterium*, and *Campylobacter* ASV biplots were also present in two of the metrics.

#### Species diversity

There was a tendency for individuals with white samples to have more diverse and even species distribution in their gut microbiome (Table 1). This is evidenced by the observed differences in terms of Shannon diversity (Fig. 3a) and Pielou's evenness (Fig. 3b) among the main diet categories. Significant differences between sexes were observed for Faith's PD (Fig. 3c; Table 1). No significant differences were observed between reproductive stages.



Figure 3. 1. Taxonomic classification at the Phylum level of the ASVs obtained from murre fecal samples showing a strong influence of bacteria belonging to the Phylum Firmicutes.



**Figure 3.2.** Principal Coordinates Analysis (PCoA) plots for the gut community composition using (**a**) weighted and (**b**) unweighted UniFrac metrics. R = Red; RW = Red and white; W = White; Y = Yellow; G = Green; YW = Yellow and white. Biplots show the taxonomy of the ASVs with the top 5 effects on the community composition for each metric with position of the arrow indicating the direction of the effect.



Figure 3. 3. Alpha diversity metrics for the gut microbiome evidencing differences between diets for (a) Shannon Diversity Index and (b) Pielou's Evenness and for differences between sexes for (c) Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity (Faith's PD). Letters above boxplots represent statistically significant differences between groups. For (a) the asterisk (\*) represents a marginally significant difference (P = 0.054) between white and green samples. R = Red; RW = Red and white; W = White; Y = Yellow; G = Green; YW = Yellow and white; F = Female; M = Male.

	Feces Color	Mean	S.D.	Comparison	Н	Q
Shannon Diversity	Red	1.95	0.8	Red - White	9.36	0.029
	White	3.27	1.35	White - Yellow	8.34	0.029
	Yellow	2.32	1.32	White - Green	6.49	0.054
	Green	1.71	1.10	(MS)		
Pielou's Evenness	Red	0.30	0.10	Comparison	Н	Q
	White	0.47	0.17	Red - White	9.01	0.020
	Yellow	0.34	0.18	White - Yellow	9.23	0.020
	Green	0.25	0.16	White - Green	7.15	0.037
	Sex	Mean	S.D.	Comparison	Н	Р
Faith's PD	Female	6.40	2.93	Esmala Mala	4 71	0.020
	Male	8.09	3.56	remaie - Male	4./1	0.030

**Table 3.1.** Diversity indices and statistical analyses among diets and between sexes. MS = Marginally significant.

#### Association between microbiome and diet, sex and reproductive stage

Murres appeared to have similar microbial communities amongst the different diet categories and between sexes. A significant effect of diet was observed for the studied birds (PERMANOVA: pseudo-F = 1.91, P = 0.007) caused by differences between red and white (Pairwise PERMANOVA: pseudo-F = 4.65, Q = 0.038) and white and yellow (Pairwise PERMANOVA: pseudo-F = 2.62, Q = 0.038) samples for weighted UniFrac distances (Fig. 2a). A significant effect of diet was also observed for unweighted UniFrac distances (PERMANOVA: pseudo-F = 1.31, P = 0.017) due to differences between the red and white (Pairwise PERMANOVA: pseudo-F = 2.60, Q = 0.015) and red and yellow (Pairwise PERMANOVA: pseudo-F = 2.16, Q = 0.045) predicted diets. For unweighted UniFrac distances, a significant effect of sex was also observed (PERMANOVA: pseudo-F = 1.62, P = 0.018; Fig. 2b). There was also a significant effect of reproductive stage for unweighted UniFrac distances (PERMANOVA: pseudo-F = 1.87, P = 0.006; Fig. S5) but, the multivariate dispersions are not homogeneous between incubating and chick-rearing birds (PERMDISP: F = 5.54, P = 0.019;). No significant effects of diet, sex or stage were observed for the Bray-Curtis dissimilarities (Fig. S4).

#### Association of microbiome with stable isotope signatures and elemental composition

Using the stable isotope data in BIOENV we determined the variable or variable combinations that best explain the microbiome community composition. For weighted UniFrac, a combination of  $\delta^{13}$ C and  $\delta^{34}$ S had the highest explanatory power ( $\rho_w = 0.12$ ). A combination of %S and C:N ratio were the variables with the highest correlation for unweighted UniFrac ( $\rho_w = 0.23$ ). A combination of  $\delta^{13}$ C,  $\delta^{15}$ N,  $\delta^{34}$ S, %S, and C:N ratio were negatively correlated with the Bray-Curtis dissimilarities ( $\rho_w = -0.24$ ). However, after testing the significance of these correlations via a twosided Mantel tests, none of the correlations between these variables and the different metrics were statistically significant.

#### Repeatability analyses

No statistical differences were observed between the two sample points in terms of alpha diversity (Fig. S6). For the community composition, there was no significant correlations between samples taken from the same birds at the two different sample points (Fig. S7a, c, and e). Given that some birds had different sample colors at the first and second time points (Table S1), we re-calculated the correlations using the birds that had the same color for both samples, but no significant correlations were found either (Fig. S7b, d, and f).

## 3.5. Discussion

The gut microbiome of the thick-billed murre is consistent with other avian microbiomes which are mainly comprised of the phyla Firmicutes, Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes, and Proteobacteria (Waite & Taylor, 2015) although there was only a small proportion of Bacteroidetes in our samples (Fig. 1, Table S1). The murre gut microbiome was dominated by bacteria belonging to the genus Catellicoccus. This genus was first described with isolates from harbour porpoise (Phocoena phocoena) and grey seal (Halichoerius grypus) carcasses (Lawson, Collins, Falsen, & Foster, 2006) and, since then, have been found to be ubiquitous in the gut microbiome of various avian species. Catellicoccus marimammalium is used as a marker for detection of gull fecal contamination (Koskey, Fisher, Traudt, Newton, & McLellan, 2014; J. Lu, Santo Domingo, Lamendella, Edge, & Hill, 2008; Ryu et al., 2012; Sinigalliano et al., 2013). Bacteria from the genus Catellicoccus have also been found in the guts of zebra finches (Taeniopygia guttata; Benskin et al. 2010), barn swallows (Hirundo rustica; Kreisinger et al. 2017), red knots and ruddy turnstones (Calidris canutus and Arenaria interpres, respectively; Grond et al. 2014), black-tailed godwits, black-winged stilts and common redshanks (Limosa limosa, Himantopus himantopus, and Tringa totanus, respectively; Santos et al. 2012), and waterfowl (Weigand, Ryu, Bozcek, Konstantinidis, & Santo Domingo, 2013). The genome of Catellicoccus marimammalium revealed that this bacterium encodes various functions such as nutrient transport and bile acid hydrolysis suggesting the possible symbiotic lifestyle of this species (Weigand et al., 2013). Possible beneficial effects for the host such as immune modulation and gut maturation have also been proposed for bacteria of this genus inhabiting the gut (Benskin et al., 2010).

High abundances of bacteria from the phylum Fusobacteria have also been observed in the guts of other seabirds such as gentoo and king penguins (*Pygoscelis papua* and *Aptenodytes patagonicus*, respectively; Dewar *et al.* 2013, 2014a), common diving petrels (*Pelecanoides* 

55

*urinatrix*; Dewar *et al.* 2014b), gulls (J. Lu et al., 2008), vultures and carnivore mammals (Roggenbuck et al., 2014; Waite & Taylor, 2015), and even in humans (Potrykus, White, & Bearne, 2008). Despite the fact that bacteria from this phylum are known for being pathogenic, recently it has been observed that they could aid their host to metabolize nutrients (Roggenbuck et al., 2014; Waite & Taylor, 2015). Fusobacteria are known butyrate producers and can ferment amino acids and glucose (Dewar, Arnould, Krause, Trathan, et al., 2014; Dewar, Arnould, Krause, Dann, et al., 2014; Potrykus et al., 2008) and, in chickens, they boost the host immune system and adiposity (Dewar, Arnould, Krause, Dann, et al., 2014). The most important genus observed for this phylum was *Cetobacterium. Cetobacterium someare* isolated from the intestinal tract of freshwater fish were found to produce vitamin B<sub>12</sub> and acetic acid which suggest the beneficial effects of this bacterium for its host (Tsuchiya, Sakata, & Sugita, 2007).

The genus *Breznakia* is relatively novel and not much is known about these bacteria but, this genus and others in the family Erysipelotrichaceae have been frequently isolated from the guts of mammals and insects making this family mostly comprised of inhabitants of animal intestinal tracts (Tegtmeier, Riese, Geissinger, Radek, & Brune, 2016). Many bacterial genera associated with opportunistic pathogens such as *Campylobacter, Helicobacter, Escherichia/Shigella, Corynebacterium, Mycobacterium, Neisseria* and *Ornithobacterium*, among others, were found in the murre gut. However, no risk of disease is believed to exist solely based of the presence of these genera as many of them contain representatives that have also been found in other healthy birds (Dewar et al., 2013; Dewar, Arnould, Krause, Trathan, et al., 2014; Grond et al., 2014; Santos et al., 2012; Vandamme et al., 1994). However, the presence of these taxa should continue to be monitored given that reverse zoonosis of various *Campylobacter* strains associated with humans has been detected in Antarctic seabirds (Cerdà-Cuéllar et al., 2019).

We observed differences between the gut microbiome of males and females in terms of phylogenetic diversity (Faith's PD; Fig. 3c) and qualitative community composition (unweighted UniFrac; Fig. 2b). These results are consistent with the social behaviour of murre mating pairs at Coats Island in which males stay in the colony during the day and leave their nest to feed at night while females feed during the day and go back to the colony during the night (Elliott et al., 2010). This leads to different types of prey being caught by each sex (Elliott et al., 2010). Additionally, females tend to be more risk-prone in terms of feeding strategies and have a greater loss of mass during chick-rearing than males (Elliott et al., 2010). The fact that a risk-prone diet could provide less consistent food sources compared to a risk-averse diet could help to explain why there was a smaller phylogenetic diversity for the females we studied. We also obtained significant differences in the composition of bacterial communities between reproductive stages with unweighted UniFrac (Fig. S5). This may occur because chick-rearing females have higher trophic levels than incubating females (Elliott et al., 2010) Prey composition changes throughout the breeding season, potentially leading to changes in the microbiome. Furthermore, unweighted UniFrac differences for reproductive stage should be taken with caution as the heterogeneity of multivariate dispersions in unbalanced designs (48 incubating vs 46 chick-rearing samples) causes PERMANOVA to become too liberal when there is a greater dispersion for the smallest group, as is the present case (Anderson & Walsh, 2013).

Despite the general patterns in taxonomical composition (Fig. S3), no consistent differences were observed between the two main diet types as red and yellow samples were significantly different only for the unweighted UniFrac PERMANOVA analyses (Fig. 2b). The color categories we established for this study represent the diet at a given moment in time (i.e. around 12 - 24 h before the sampling event) and thus, may not necessarily represent the overall

diet of the bird throughout the mating season which might shape the microbiome more than the diet of a single day. Daily diet variation can be clearly seen with some of the murres in the study which had one fecal color for the first sampling point and a different one for the second (e.g. sample 7 and 12 belong to the same bird and are red and yellow, respectively; Table S1). Indeed, even the most specialized murres occasionally capture prey types different than the ones they specialize in (Elliott et al., 2009) which could help to explain why the composition of the microbiome is not significantly different between the presumed arthropod and fish prey categories evaluated in this study. We can also see how the gut microbiome changes from individual to individual (Fig. 1 and Fig. S2), which is consistent with the idea that generalist populations consist of individuals with multiple degrees of specialization (Provencher et al., 2013). Our results corroborate the need to characterize diet for particular individuals instead of generalizing diets of populations and even species as a whole (Bolnick et al., 2003, 2002). The large variation in the proportion of ASVs from the genus *Catellicoccus* illustrates the various degrees of IPS that the murre colony at Coats Island has.

Differences among the other types of murre fecal samples could be observed in terms of alpha diversity and community composition suggesting that white samples are different from red, yellow, and, in some cases, green samples (Fig. 2 and Fig. 3). The role of intestinal microorganisms in uric acid recycling could explain the fact that white samples had a higher diversity and more even species distribution than fecal samples originating from arthropod and piscivorous diets. The microbial communities in the avian intestine that aid their host to utilize nutrients from their diets are mostly saccharolytic and, thus, only degrade compounds that the birds could metabolize themselves (Kohl, 2012). Uricolytic bacteria in bird guts, on the other hand, are much more active, fulfilling the function of uric acid recyclers. Introducing uric acid into their intestinal tract could
have direct benefits for the bird or indirect ones via the maintenance of the microbial community in their ceca (Vispo & Karasov, 1997). When the bird is protein-depleted, the use of the uric acidderived ammonia for amino acid production could help to balance the nutrient deficiency in its diet (Karasawa, 1999). Given the social behaviour of murre mating pairs in which one of the individuals takes care of the nest for prolonged periods of time while its mate feeds, it is possible that the gut microbiome aids murres staying in their nests to compensate, to a certain extent, for their lack of food. Excreting nitrogen in the form of uric acid reduces water loss due to its low solubility in water (Thong-On et al., 2012). Besides the main role of uric acid in osmoregulation, it could also be important to maintain osmotic balance with the assistance of bacteria (Vispo & Karasov, 1997). When taken up the intestine by retrograde peristalsis, it is possible that some of the urinary water is reabsorbed in the ceca and microorganisms would degrade the remaining uric acid to prevent a build up of harmful nitrogenous waste in the ceca. Additionally, the produced ammonia, which is converted into glutamine, can be transported to the kidneys where the glutamine is cleaved, and the ammonia serves as a proton buffer. The resulting ammonium is discarded so recycling uric acid helps birds maintain osmotic balance while reducing the amount of nitrogen they are required to consume in their diet.

No apparent relationships between microbiome and stable isotope ratios could be detected. However, associations between diet and isotopic signatures such as  $\delta^{34}$ S,  $\delta^{15}$ N, and  $\delta^{13}$ C have already been observed for trophic webs at Coats Island as well as for other seabird colonies (Elliott & Elliott, 2016; Góngora et al., 2018b; Woo et al., 2008). Our smaller sample size for stable isotope analysis (N = 17) compared to the total number of sampled birds (N = 36) and the number of fecal microbiomes sequenced and analyzed (N = 94) might help to explain why significant relationships were not obtained. Increasing sample size could help to validate the presumed correlations originally detailed by BIOENV that were not supported by the Mantel tests. It must also be noted that the isotope ratios were measured in RBCs which have a slow turnover rate of months (Barger, Young, Will, Ito, & Kitaysky, 2016) compared to the expected turnover rate of days for fecal matter. This difference in the response rates for the two measurements could also explain the negative statistical results obtained when comparing microbiome composition and stable isotope ratios. Measuring isotopic signatures in plasma, rather than RBCs, is suggested for future studies given that plasma has a much faster turnover rate (approximately a week) than RBCs (Barger et al., 2016). Other molecular techniques could also be implemented in order to better characterize murre diet such as eDNA metabarcoding of prey genes found in murre gut samples (Leray et al., 2013) as well as other traditional techniques such as feeding watches. More specific diet categories could help to elucidate the high inter-individual diversity found in this study and explain if stable isotopes are a useful tool to describe changes in the gut microbiome of thick-billed murres.

## 3.6. Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Mira Okshevsky for critically revising the manuscript. Funding of the field work was provided by Environment and Climate Change Canada, the Canada Research Chair in Arctic Ecology. Support was provided by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC) Discovery Grant Program. Carbon, nitrogen, and sulfur stable isotope analysis was funded by the Northern Contaminants Program of Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada. We thank Allison Patterson, Émile Brisson-Curadeau, Sarah Poole, Jean-Hugues Martin, François St-Aubin, Scott Flemming, and Josiah Nakoolak for help collecting the field samples. Thanks also to Natural Resources Canada (Polar Continental Shelf Program) and Rick Armstrong at the Nunavut Research Institute for helping with logistics.

## **3.7.** Supplementary Material



**Figure S3.1.** Sampling method used to collect fecal samples (**right**) and the three main types of fecal samples obtained from Thick-billed murres at Coats Island (**left**). Based on coloration and consistency, samples are thought to belong to birds with a diet mostly consisting on: arthropods (red), uric acid (white), and fish (yellow).



**Figure S3. 2.** Taxonomic classification at the Genus level of the ASVs obtained from murre fecal samples showing a strong influence of bacteria belonging to the genus Catellicoccus compared to all other genera.



**Figure S3. 3.** Taxonomic classification at the Phylum level of the ASVs obtained from murre fecal samples grouped by fecal sample colors showing general patterns in taxonomical composition from each category.



**Figure S3.4.** Principal Coordinates Analysis (PCoA) plots for the gut community composition using Bray-Curtis dissimilarities. R = Red; RW = Red and white; W = White; Y = Yellow; G = Green; YW = Yellow and white. Biplots show the taxonomy of the ASVs with the top 5 effects on the community composition with position of the arrow indicating the direction of the effect.



**Figure S3.5.** Principal Coordinates Analysis (PCoA) plots for the gut community composition using the unweighted UniFrac metrics with samples separated by reproductive stage.



Figure S3. 6. Differences in alpha diversity measurements between samples from the same bird in the two studied time points.



Figure S3. 7. Comparison of the value of the first PCoA axis of each bird between sampling points for the unweighted (a, b) and weighted (c, d) UniFrac metrics, and Bray-Curtis dissimilarities (e, f).

SampleID	BirdID	Date	Sample	Color	d13C	%C	d15N	%N	d34S	%S	Sex	Status
EGT1	99676429	10/07/2017	1	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Incubitating
EGT100	99658331	28/07/2017	1	Y	-20.75	42.4	15.52	13.17	18.04	0.66	N/A	Chick
EGT101	117639797	28/07/2017	1	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	F	Chick
EGT102	99679694	28/07/2017	1	W	-20.34	48.2	15.27	15.4	19.49	0.69	М	Chick
EGT103	99656411	28/07/2017	1	Y	-20.66	48.2	14.11	15	17.03	0.72	М	Chick
EGT104	99680764	28/07/2017	1	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	М	Chick
EGT105	118606010	28/07/2017	1	W	-20.43	49.9	15.59	15.3	19.57	0.64	F	Chick
EGT106	99653374	28/07/2017	1	R	-21.14	48.2	15.33	13.89	16.45	0.74	F	Chick
EGT107	99653374	01/08/2017	2	R	-21.14	48.2	15.33	13.89	16.45	0.74	F	Chick
EGT108	99680540	01/08/2017	2	W	-20.76	48.7	15.63	14.95	19.99	0.72	F	Chick
EGT109	99656411	02/08/2017	2	W	-20.66	48.2	14.11	15	17.03	0.72	М	Chick
EGT11	99670720	06/07/2017	2	Y	-20.31	48.8	13.83	15.2	18.69	0.61	М	Incubitating
EGT110	117639823	01/08/2017	2	RW	-20.35	48.7	15.45	14.9	19.68	0.65	F	Chick
EGT111	99679694	01/08/2017	2	Y	-20.34	48.2	15.27	15.4	19.49	0.69	F	Chick
EGT112	99658331	01/08/2017	2	RW	-20.75	42.4	15.52	13.17	18.04	0.66	N/A	Chick
EGT113	99680764	01/08/2017	2	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	М	Chick
EGT114	118606010	01/08/2017	2	Y	-20.43	49.9	15.59	15.3	19.57	0.64	F	Chick
EGT115	99676921	01/08/2017	2	R	-20.35	49	16.09	15.4	19.44	0.71	F	Chick
EGT116	117639797	01/08/2017	2	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	F	Chick
EGT12	99686990	07/07/2017	2	Y	-20.44	49.7	14.67	15.3	19.57	0.82	М	Incubitating
EGT13	99667063	09/07/2017	2	R	-20.58	48.2	14.29	15.1	17.24	0.73	М	Incubitating
EGT14	99686180	09/07/2017	2	Y	-20.67	47.8	14.39	14.86	19.61	0.71	М	Incubitating
EGT17	99676429	12/07/2017	2	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Incubitating
EGT18	117639776	12/07/2017	2	W	-20.97	50.1	14.71	14.52	19.28	0.74	N/A	Incubitating
EGT19	99676337	06/07/2017	1	Y	-20.39	49	15.07	15.3	18.74	0.72	F	Incubitating
EGT20	99676338	06/07/2017	1	R	-20.42	49	14.14	15.5	18.59	0.72	М	Incubitating
EGT21	99696862	12/07/2017	2	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Incubitating
EGT22	99667218	10/07/2017	1	Y	-20.35	48.3	14.86	15.1	17.91	0.8	М	Incubitating

**Table S3.1.** Metadata for the various Thick-billed murre samples collected at Coats Island.

EGT23	117639773	10/07/2017	1	Y	-20.23	50.1	15.12	15.5	18.99	0.73	N/A	Incubitating
EGT24	99676338	10/07/2017	2	R	-20.42	49	14.14	15.5	18.59	0.72	Μ	Incubitating
EGT25	117639773	12/07/2017	2	W	-20.23	50.1	15.12	15.5	18.99	0.73	N/A	Incubitating
EGT37	99697231	17/07/2017	2	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Chick
EGT38	99683053	17/07/2017	2	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT39	99676555	17/07/2017	2	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT40	99699833	17/07/2017	2	YG	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT41	99687257	17/07/2017	2	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT42	99600376	15/07/2017	1	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT43	118600092	17/07/2017	2	YW	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT44	99689936	17/07/2017	2	YW	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT45	99659671	14/07/2017	1	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT46	99664156	17/07/2017	2	YG	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Chick
EGT48	99687257	14/07/2017	1	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT5	117639776	10/07/2017	1	W	-20.97	50.1	14.71	14.52	19.28	0.74	N/A	Incubitating
EGT50	118607286	17/07/2017	2	YG	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT52	99683053	14/07/2017	1	YG	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT53	99684228	15/07/2017	1	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT55	118600400	17/07/2017	2	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Chick
EGT56	99689234	17/07/2017	2	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT57	99667218	13/07/2017	2	W	-20.35	48.3	14.86	15.1	17.91	0.8	Μ	Incubitating
EGT58	99659671	17/07/2017	2	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT59	99683052	17/07/2017	2	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT6	99670720	03/07/2017	1	Y	-20.31	48.8	13.83	15.2	18.69	0.61	Μ	Incubitating
EGT60	99680514	17/07/2017	2	RW	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	F	Chick
EGT61	99689147	17/07/2017	2	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT62	99684228	17/07/2017	2	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT63	118607294	17/07/2017	2	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT64	99670801	17/07/2017	2	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT65	99689936	15/07/2017	1	RW	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT66	99699835	17/07/2017	2	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick

EGT67	99689234	14/07/2017	1	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	М	Incubitating
EGT68	118600092	14/07/2017	1	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	М	Incubitating
EGT7	99686990	03/07/2017	1	R	-20.44	49.7	14.67	15.3	19.57	0.82	Μ	Incubitating
EGT70	118607294	14/07/2017	1	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT71	118607286	14/07/2017	1	R	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT72	118607282	14/07/2017	1	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT73	99665084	14/07/2017	1	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT74	118600400	14/07/2017	1	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Incubitating
EGT75	99689147	14/07/2017	1	YW	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT76	99676614	14/07/2017	1	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT77	99676337	13/07/2017	2	Y	-20.39	49	15.07	15.3	18.74	0.72	F	Incubitating
EGT78	118607282	17/07/2017	2	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT79	99683052	14/07/2017	1	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT8	99667063	03/07/2017	1	R	-20.58	48.2	14.29	15.1	17.24	0.73	Μ	Incubitating
EGT80	99680748	14/07/2017	1	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT81	99699837	15/07/2017	1	YG	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT82	99699832	15/07/2017	1	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT83	99699835	15/07/2017	1	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT84	99600376	17/07/2017	2	R	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT85	99699833	15/07/2017	1	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT86	99670801	15/07/2017	1	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT87	99665084	17/07/2017	2	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT88	118607287	17/07/2017	2	W	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT89	99680514	14/07/2017	1	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	F	Incubitating
EGT9	99686180	03/07/2017	1	Y	-20.67	47.8	14.39	14.86	19.61	0.71	Μ	Incubitating
EGT90	99664156	14/07/2017	1	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Incubitating
EGT91	99699837	17/07/2017	2	YG	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT92	118607287	14/07/2017	1	YW	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT93	99676555	14/07/2017	1	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Incubitating
EGT94	99699832	17/07/2017	2	Y	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Μ	Chick
EGT95	99676614	17/07/2017	2	YW	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	М	Chick

EGT96	99697231	15/07/2017	1	RW	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Incubitating
EGT97	99676921	28/07/2017	1	R	-20.35	49	16.09	15.4	19.44	0.71	F	Chick
EGT98	117639823	28/07/2017	1	W	-20.35	48.7	15.45	14.9	19.68	0.65	F	Chick
EGT99	99680540	28/07/2017	1	W	-20.76	48.7	15.63	14.95	19.99	0.72	F	Chick

## **Chapter 4. Conclusion**

Seabirds are important monitors of various aspects of the environments they inhabit and breed in. They can help to assess oceanic fish stocks (Brisson-Curadeau, Patterson, Whelan, Lazarus, & Elliott, 2017) and monitor how contaminant levels change throughout the years (Elliott & Elliott, 2013). Given the rapid changes in Arctic ecosystems in recent years due to the adverse effects of climate change, and the ubiquity of thick-billed murres throughout the Arctic, understanding aspects of their life history can provide background for the use of murres to monitor changes in the environment. IPS is a concept that is not widely considered by ecologists due to the 'tyranny of the Golden Mean' (Williams, 2008). Ecologists often prefer to increase sample sizes so as to conclude average traits of populations or species as a whole. Such analyses allow insight to provide general models based on population averages without considering individual variation. However, intra-specific variation can have important ecological effects that should also be studied (Bolnick et al., 2011; Elliott et al., 2009).

There are two aspects that clearly show the importance of studying inter-individual variation. For the study of Hg accumulation in food webs it is normally assumed that trophic level is the most important factor determining the movement of Hg through the food web (Elliott & Elliott, 2016). Thus, considering IPS in that scenario is already important because specialist individuals tend to feed on higher trophic levels (Woo et al., 2008) and, thus, would consume larger amounts Hg. Here, we incorporate another aspect to be taken into consideration to better understand the relationship between IPS and Hg, namely Hg methylation and a method to indirectly quantify Hg methylation,  $\delta^{34}$ S complements the information provided by trophic level regarding Hg bioaccumulation and, in some cases, better explains Hg levels. If we associate the

information provided by  $\delta^{34}$ S with IPS, it would be possible to say that if murres at Coats Island were to specialize on organisms that have relatively low  $\delta^{34}$ S levels, those individuals would presumably consume higher amounts of Hg than what is expected based on trophic level biomagnification. However, there are still some aspects of the relationship between Hg methylation and accumulation that must be clarified. An excess of sulfide reduces the amount of Hg available for methylation (Benoit, Gilmour, Mason, & Heyes, 1999) and this can help to explain why Hg levels in the studied fish and invertebrates decreased with  $\delta^{34}$ S (sulfide abundance hypothesis). However, other studies have supported the sulfate availability hypothesis is also valid for other organisms in other sites. The relationship between  $\delta^{34}$ S and Hg should continue to be studied in the future so that these two hypotheses can be reconciled.

In Chapter 3, we observed that differences in feeding habits due to IPS, sex or reproductive stage can cause differences in terms of the abundance of specific bacterial taxa or diversity and composition of the overall gut microbial community. Based on the taxonomy of some of the most important bacteria we identified, it is possible that the gut microbiome has been shaped to help the host to process the different food items it is selecting and consuming. Different feeding behaviours in murres tend to provide similar energy intakes for males and females (Elliott et al., 2010), and tend to provide less energy for prey specialists (Woo et al., 2008), and so future studies could help to understand if gut microorganisms are helping birds to maximize the nutrients they obtain in terms other than energy consumption. However, a limitation of our results for the chapter is that we were not able to characterize diet in a more detailed way. We recommend increasing the sample size for the stable isotope analysis and using plasma samples, in addition red blood cells, to determine whether there is a relationship between those signatures at different time scales and the microbiome. We also recommend using prey eDNA obtained while sequencing the microbial 16S

samples to determine diet composition. Using the information obtained by these additional methods, we could obtain a description of murre diet at different time scales which could allow us to see if the murre gut microbiome is mostly affected by changes in diet on a short (eDNA), medium (plasma), or long (red blood cells) time scale.

Chapters 2 and 3 showed the importance of combining the knowledge from different disciplines and how understanding the underlying microbiology occurring in this system may be helpful to describe processes in animal physiology and ecotoxicology that are not explained using the more traditional approaches. We showed that bacteria can be both detrimental, as in the case of Hg methylation by SRB, and beneficial, as in the case of gut symbionts. Continuing to study these systems with other approaches such as isolation of the most important bacteria or metagenomic and metatranscriptomic surveys should be performed in the future to continue to understand the new aspects of the environments where these microorganisms inhabit. Isolating some of the most important bacteria in murre feces, such as those belonging to the Catellicoccus, Cetobacterium or Breznakia genera or the bacteria responsible for Hg methylation in oceans surrounding Coats Island, could tell us more about the physiology of these bacteria and their roles in the bird gut and marine sediments. Given that some of these bacteria cannot be grown under laboratory conditions, assembling their genomes based on metagenomes, and measuring the expression of genes in those genomes with metatranscriptomes, would also allow understanding of the metabolic pathways that are being used.

Another future direction that could be applied to the systems we studied in this thesis would be to link the three main topics we treated: the thick-billed murre, Hg accumulation, and bacteria. This could be done with the evaluation of Hg methylation or demethylation occurring inside the murre gut. A meta-analysis of published metagenomes looking for Hg methylation genes in

74

different environments found that Hg methylation genes are not present in vertebrate gut metagenomes, but only domesticated animals were included so it is possible that there are different patterns occurring for wild birds (Podar et al., 2015). Hg demethylation genes have been detected in the guts of isopods (Lapanje et al., 2010) and it has been suggested that probiotic bacteria could reduce Hg accumulation in humans (Bisanz et al., 2014). We recommend the study of Hg demethylation in the murre gut in the future.

## References

- Alberdi, A., Aizpurua, O., Bohmann, K., Zepeda-Mendoza, M. L., & Gilbert, M. T. P. (2016). Do Vertebrate Gut Metagenomes Confer Rapid Ecological Adaptation? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *31*(9), 689–699. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2016.06.008
- Amos, H. M., Jacob, D. J., Streets, D. G., & Sunderland, E. M. (2013). Legacy impacts of all-time anthropogenic emissions on the global mercury cycle. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 27(2), 410–421. https://doi.org/10.1002/gbc.20040
- Anderson, M. J. (2001). A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance. *Austral Ecology*, 26(1), 32–46. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-9993.2001.01070.pp.x
- Anderson, M. J. (2006). Distance-Based Tests for Homogeneity of Multivariate Dispersions. *Biometrics*, 62(1), 245–253. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-0420.2005.00440.x
- Anderson, M. J., & Walsh, D. C. I. (2013). PERMANOVA, ANOSIM, and the Mantel test in the face of heterogeneous dispersions: What null hypothesis are you testing? *Ecological Monographs*, 83(4), 557–574. https://doi.org/10.1890/12-2010.1
- Antler, G., Turchyn, A. V., Rennie, V., Herut, B., & Sivan, O. (2013). Coupled sulfur and oxygen isotope insight into bacterial sulfate reduction in the natural environment. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 118, 98–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2013.05.005
- Apajalahti, J. H. A., Kettunen, A., Bedford, M. R., & Holben, W. E. (2001). Percent G + C Profiling Accurately Reveals Diet-Related Differences in the Gastrointestinal Microbial Community of Broiler Chickens. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 67(12), 5656– 5667. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.67.12.5656

- Apajalahti, J., & Kettunen, A. (2006). Microbes of the chicken gastrointestinal tract. In G. C. Perry (Ed.), *Avian gut function in health and disease* (pp. 124–137). Bristol: CAB International.
- Ariya, P. A., Dastoor, A. P., Amyot, M., Schroeder, W. H., Barrie, L., Anlauf, K., ... Steffen, A. (2004). The Arctic: A sink for mercury. *Tellus, Series B: Chemical and Physical Meteorology*, 56(5), 397–403. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0889.2004.00118.x
- Atwell, L., Hobson, K. A., & Welch, H. E. (1998). Biomagnification and bioaccumulation of mercury in an arctic marine food web: insights from stable nitrogen isotope analysis. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 55(5), 1114–1121.
  https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-55-5-1114
- Bangert, R. L., Ward, A. C. S., Stauber, E. H., Cho, B. R., & Widders, P. R. (1988). A Survey of the Aerobic Bacteria in the Feces of Captive Raptors. *Avian Diseases*, 32(1), 53–62. https://doi.org/10.1007/sl0963-009-9024-4
- Barger, C. P., Young, R. C., Will, A., Ito, M., & Kitaysky, A. S. (2016). Resource partitioning between sympatric seabird species increases during chick-rearing. *Ecosphere*, 7(9), e01447. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.1447
- Ben-Yosef, M., Aharon, Y., Jurkevitch, E., & Yuval, B. (2010). Give us the tools and we will do the job: symbiotic bacteria affect olive fly fitness in a diet-dependent fashion. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 277(1687), 1545–1552. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2009.2102
- Benoit, J. M., Gilmour, C. C., Mason, R. P., & Heyes, A. (1999). Sulfide Controls on Mercury Speciation and Bioavailability to Methylating Bacteria in Sediment Pore Waters. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 33(6), 951–957. https://doi.org/10.1021/es9808200

- Benskin, C. M. H., Rhodes, G., Pickup, R. W., Wilson, K., & Hartley, I. R. (2010). Diversity and temporal stability of bacterial communities in a model passerine bird, the zebra finch. *Molecular Ecology*, 19(24), 5531–5544. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2010.04892.x
- Bentzen, R., Castellini, J. M., Gerlach, R., Dykstra, C., & O'Hara, T. (2016). Mercury concentrations in Alaska Pacific halibut muscle relative to stable isotopes of C and N and other biological variables. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 113(1–2), 110–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.08.068
- Bisanz, J. E., Enos, M. K., Mwanga, J. R., Changalucha, J., Burton, J. P., Gloor, G. B., & Reid, G. (2014). Randomized Open-Label Pilot Study of the Influence of Probiotics and the Gut Microbiome on Toxic Metal Levels in Tanzanian Pregnant Women and School Children. *MBio*, 5(5), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.01580-14
- Bokulich, N. A., Dillon, M. R., Zhang, Y., Rideout, J. R., Bolyen, E., Li, H., ... Caporaso, J. G. (2018). q2-longitudinal: Longitudinal and Paired-Sample Analyses of Microbiome Data. *MSystems*, 3(6), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00219-18
- Bokulich, N. A., Kaehler, B. D., Rideout, J. R., Dillon, M., Bolyen, E., Knight, R., ... Gregory Caporaso, J. (2018). Optimizing taxonomic classification of marker-gene amplicon sequences with QIIME 2's q2-feature-classifier plugin. *Microbiome*, 6(1), 90. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0470-z
- Bolnick, D. I., Amarasekare, P., Araújo, M. S., Bürger, R., Levine, J. M., Novak, M., ... Vasseur,
  D. A. (2011). Why intraspecific trait variation matters in community ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 26(4), 183–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2011.01.009

Bolnick, D. I., Snowberg, L. K., Hirsch, P. E., Lauber, C. L., Knight, R., Caporaso, J. G., &

Svanbäck, R. (2014). Individuals' diet diversity influences gut microbial diversity in two freshwater fish (threespine stickleback and Eurasian perch). *Ecology Letters*, *17*(8), 979–987. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12301

- Bolnick, D. I., Snowberg, L. K., Hirsch, P. E., Lauber, C. L., Org, E., Parks, B., ... Svanbäck, R.
  (2014). Individual diet has sex-dependent effects on vertebrate gut microbiota. *Nature Communications*, *5*, 4500. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms5500
- Bolnick, D. I., Svanbäck, R., Fordyce, J. a, Yang, L. H., Davis, J. M., Hulsey, C. D., & Forister,
  M. L. (2003). The ecology of individuals: incidence and implications of individual specialization. *American Naturalist*, 161(1), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1086/343878
- Bolnick, D. I., Yang, L. H., Fordyce, J. A., Davis, J. M., & Svanbäck, R. (2002). Measuring individual-level resource specialization. *Ecology*, 83(10), 2936–2941.
- Bolyen, E., Rideout, J. R., Dillon, M. R., Bokulich, N. A., Abnet, C., Al-Ghalith, G. A., ...
  Caporaso, J. G. (2018). QIIME 2: Reproducible, interactive, scalable, and extensible microbiome data science. *PeerJ Preprints*, (e27295v1). https://doi.org/10.7287/peerj.preprints.27295v1
- Braune, B., Chételat, J., Amyot, M., Brown, T., Clayden, M., Evans, M., ... Stern, G. (2015).
  Mercury in the marine environment of the Canadian Arctic: Review of recent findings. *Science of the Total Environment*, 509–510, 67–90.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.05.133
- Braune, B. M. (2007). Temporal trends of organochlorines and mercury in seabird eggs from the Canadian Arctic, 1975-2003. *Environmental Pollution*, 148(2), 599–613. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2006.11.024

- Braune, B. M., Gaston, A. J., Elliott, K. H., Provencher, J. F., Woo, K. J., Chambellant, M., ... Letcher, R. J. (2014a). Organohalogen contaminants and total mercury in forage fish preyed upon by thick-billed murres in northern Hudson Bay. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 78(1–2), 258–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2013.11.003
- Braune, B. M., Gaston, A. J., Hobson, K. A., Gilchrist, H. G., & Mallory, M. L. (2014b). Changes in Food Web Structure Alter Trends of Mercury Uptake at Two Seabird Colonies in the Canadian Arctic. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 48(22), 13246–13252. https://doi.org/10.1021/es5036249
- Braune, B. M., Gaston, A. J., & Mallory, M. L. (2016). Temporal trends of mercury in eggs of five sympatrically breeding seabird species in the Canadian Arctic. *Environmental Pollution*, 214, 124–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.04.006
- Braune, B. M., Outridge, P. M., Fisk, A. T., Muir, D. C. G., Helm, P. A., Hobbs, K., ... Stirling, I. (2005). Persistent organic pollutants and mercury in marine biota of the Canadian Arctic: An overview of spatial and temporal trends. *Science of the Total Environment*, 351–352, 4–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2004.10.034
- Brisson-Curadeau, E., Patterson, A., Whelan, S., Lazarus, T., & Elliott, K. H. (2017). Tracking Cairns: Biologging Improves the Use of Seabirds as Sentinels of the Sea. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 4(November), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2017.00357
- Burnham, K. P., & Anderson, D. R. (2002). Model selection and multimodel inference: a practical information-theoretic approach (Second Edi). New York, NY: Springer-Verlag. https://doi.org/10.1007/b97636

Callahan, B. J., McMurdie, P. J., Rosen, M. J., Han, A. W., Johnson, A. J. A., & Holmes, S. P.

(2016). DADA2: High-resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. *Nature Methods*, *13*(7), 581–583. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3869

- Campbell, L. M., Norstrom, R. J., Hobson, K. A., Muir, D. C. G., Backus, S., & Fisk, A. T. (2005).
  Mercury and other trace elements in a pelagic Arctic marine food web (Northwater Polynya, Baffin Bay). *Science of the Total Environment*, 351–352, 247–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2005.02.043
- Carr, M. K., Jardine, T. D., Doig, L. E., Jones, P. D., Bharadwaj, L., Tendler, B., ... Lindenschmidt,
  K.-E. (2017). Stable sulfur isotopes identify habitat-specific foraging and mercury exposure
  in a highly mobile fish community. *Science of The Total Environment*, 586, 338–346.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.02.013
- Ceia, F. R., & Ramos, J. A. (2015). Individual specialization in the foraging and feeding strategies of seabirds: a review. *Marine Biology*, 162(10), 1923–1938. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-015-2735-4
- Cerdà-Cuéllar, M., Moré, E., Ayats, T., Aguilera, M., Muñoz-González, S., Antilles, N., ... González-Solís, J. (2019). Do humans spread zoonotic enteric bacteria in Antarctica? *Science of The Total Environment*, 654, 190–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.10.272
- Chételat, J., Amyot, M., Arp, P., Blais, J. M., Depew, D., Emmerton, C. A., ... van der Velden, S. (2015). Mercury in freshwater ecosystems of the Canadian Arctic: Recent advances on its cycling and fate. *Science of The Total Environment*, 509–510, 41–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.05.151
- Chételat, J., Amyot, M., Cloutier, L., & Poulain, A. (2008). Metamorphosis in Chironomids, More than Mercury Supply, Controls Methylmercury Transfer to Fish in High Arctic Lakes.

*Environmental Science* & *Technology*, *42*(24), 9110–9115. https://doi.org/10.1021/es801619h

- Chételat, J., Poulain, A. J., Amyot, M., Cloutier, L., & Hintelmann, H. (2014). Ecological determinants of methylmercury bioaccumulation in benthic invertebrates of polar desert lakes. *Polar Biology*, 37(12), 1785–1796. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00300-014-1561-3
- Clarke, K., & Ainsworth, M. (1993). A method of linking multivariate community structure to environmental variables. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 92, 205–219. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps092205
- Clayden, M. G., Kidd, K. A., Wyn, B., Kirk, J. L., Muir, D. C. G., & O'Driscoll, N. J. (2013). Mercury Biomagnification through Food Webs Is Affected by Physical and Chemical Characteristics of Lakes. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47(21), 12047–12053. https://doi.org/10.1021/es4022975
- Clayden, M. G., Lescord, G. L., Kidd, K. A., Wang, X., Muir, D. C. G., & O'Driscoll, N. J. (2017). Using sulfur stable isotopes to assess mercury bioaccumulation and biomagnification in temperate lake food webs. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 36(3), 661–670. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.3615
- Compeau, G. C., & Bartha, R. (1985). Sulfate-Reducing Bacteria: Principal Methylators of Mercury in Anoxic Estuarine Sediment. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 50(2), 498–502.
- Croll, D. A., Gaston, A. J., Burger, A. E., & Konnoff, D. (1992). Foraging Behavior and Physiological Adapatation in Thick-Billed Murres. *Ecology*, *73*(1), 344–356.

- Dempson, J. B., Braithwaite, V. A., Doherty, D., & Power, M. (2010). Stable isotope analysis of marine feeding signatures of Atlantic salmon in the North Atlantic. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 67(1), 52–61. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsp227
- Dewar, M. L., Arnould, J. P. Y., Dann, P., Trathan, P., Groscolas, R., & Smith, S. (2013). Interspecific variations in the gastrointestinal microbiota in penguins. *MicrobiologyOpen*, 2(1), 195–204. https://doi.org/10.1002/mbo3.66
- Dewar, M. L., Arnould, J. P. Y., Krause, L., Dann, P., & Smith, S. C. (2014). Interspecific variations in the faecal microbiota of Procellariiform seabirds. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 89(1), 47–55. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6941.12332
- Dewar, M. L., Arnould, J. P. Y., Krause, L., Trathan, P., Dann, P., & Smith, S. C. (2014). Influence of Fasting during Moult on the Faecal Microbiota of Penguins. *PLoS ONE*, 9(6), e99996. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0099996
- Dietz, R., Sonne, C., Basu, N., Braune, B., O'Hara, T., Letcher, R. J., ... Aars, J. (2013). What are the toxicological effects of mercury in Arctic biota? *Science of The Total Environment*, 443, 775–790. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.11.046
- Driscoll, C. T., Mason, R. P., Chan, H. M., Jacob, D. J., & Pirrone, N. (2013). Mercury as a global pollutant: Sources, pathways, and effects. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 47(10), 4967–4983. https://doi.org/10.1021/es305071v
- Elliott, J. E., & Elliott, K. H. (2013). Tracking marine pollution. *Science*, *340*, 556–558. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1235197

Elliott, K. H., Davis, M., & Elliott, J. E. (2014). Equations for lipid normalization of carbon stable

isotope ratios in aquatic bird eggs. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(1), 33–36. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0083597

- Elliott, K. H., & Elliott, J. E. (2016). Origin of sulfur in diet drives spatial and temporal mercury trends in seabird eggs from Pacific Canada 1968-2012.
- Elliott, K. H., & Elliott, J. E. (2016). Origin of Sulfur in Diet Drives Spatial and Temporal Mercury Trends in Seabird Eggs From Pacific Canada 1968–2015. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 50(24), 13380–13386. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b05458
- Elliott, K. H., & Gaston, A. J. (2008). Mass-length relationships and energy content of fishes and invertebrates delivered to nestling Thick-billed Murres Uria lomvia in the Canadian Arctic, 1981-2007. *Marine Ornithology*, 36(1), 25–34.
- Elliott, K. H., Gaston, A. J., & Crump, D. (2010). Sex-specific behavior by a monomorphic seabird represents risk partitioning. *Behavioral Ecology*, 21(5), 1024–1032. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/arq076
- Elliott, K. H., Woo, K. J., & Gaston, A. J. (2009). Specialization in murres: the story of eight specialists. *Waterbirds*, *32*(4), 491–506. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.032.0402
- Eriksson, P., Mourkas, E., González-Acuna, D., Olsen, B., & Ellström, P. (2017). Evaluation and optimization of microbial DNA extraction from fecal samples of wild Antarctic bird species. *Infection Ecology & Epidemiology*, 7(1), 1386536.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/20008686.2017.1386536
- Ethier, A. L. M., Scheuhammer, A. M., & Bond, D. E. (2008). Correlates of mercury in fish from lakes near Clyde Forks, Ontario, Canada. *Environmental Pollution*, *154*(1), 89–97.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2008.01.009

- Fagan, K.-A., Koops, M. A., Arts, M. T., & Power, M. (2011). Assessing the utility of C:N ratios for predicting lipid content in fishes. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 68(2), 374–385. https://doi.org/10.1139/F10-119
- Faith, D. P. (1992). Conservation evaluation and phylogenetic diversity. *Biological Conservation*, 61(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3207(92)91201-3
- Fort, J., Robertson, G. J., Grémillet, D., Traisnel, G., & Bustamante, P. (2014). Spatial Ecotoxicology: Migratory Arctic Seabirds Are Exposed to Mercury Contamination While Overwintering in the Northwest Atlantic. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 48(19), 11560–11567. https://doi.org/10.1021/es504045g
- Foster, K. L., Stern, G. A., Pazerniuk, M. A., Hickie, B., Walkusz, W., Wang, F., & Macdonald, R. W. (2012). Mercury Biomagnification in Marine Zooplankton Food Webs in Hudson Bay. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(23), 12952–12959. https://doi.org/10.1021/es303434p
- Fry, B., & Chumchal, M. M. (2012). Mercury bioaccumulation in estuarine food webs. *Ecological Applications*, 22(2), 606–623. https://doi.org/10.1890/11-0921.1
- Furness, R. W., & Camphuysen, C. J. (1997). Seabirds as monitors of the marine environment. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 54(4), 726–737. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmsc.1997.0243
- Gilmour, C. C., Henry, E. A., & Mitchell, R. (1992). Sulfate stimulation of mercury methylation in freshwater sediments. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 26(11), 2281–2287. https://doi.org/10.1021/es00035a029

- Gilmour, C. C., Podar, M., Bullock, A. L., Graham, A. M., Brown, S. D., Somenahally, A. C., ...
  Elias, D. A. (2013). Mercury Methylation by Novel Microorganisms from New Environments. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47(20), 11810–11820. https://doi.org/10.1021/es403075t
- Góngora, E., Braune, B., & Elliott, K. (2018a). Dataset from Nitrogen and sulfur isotopes predict variation in mercury levels in Arctic seabird prey. *Mendeley Data*, v3. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.17632/4rngbjg4r8.3
- Góngora, E., Braune, B. M., & Elliott, K. H. (2018b). Nitrogen and sulfur isotopes predict variation in mercury levels in Arctic seabird prey. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 135(November 2017), 907–914. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.07.075
- Graham, A. M., Aiken, G. R., & Gilmour, C. C. (2012). Dissolved Organic Matter Enhances Microbial Mercury Methylation Under Sulfidic Conditions. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(5), 2715–2723. https://doi.org/10.1021/es203658f
- Grond, K., Ryu, H., Baker, A. J., Santo Domingo, J. W., & Buehler, D. M. (2014). Gastro-intestinal microbiota of two migratory shorebird species during spring migration staging in Delaware Bay, USA. *Journal of Ornithology*, 155(4), 969–977. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-014-1083-3
- Grueber, C. E., Nakagawa, S., Laws, R. J., & Jamieson, I. G. (2011). Multimodel inference in ecology and evolution: challenges and solutions. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 24(4), 699–711. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1420-9101.2010.02210.x
- Hobson, K. A. (1999). Tracing origins and migration of wildlife using stable isotopes: a review. *Oecologia*, *120*(3), 314–326. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004420050865

- Hobson, K. A., Piatt, J. F., & Pitocchelli, J. (1994). Using Stable Isotopes to Determine Seabird
  Trophic Relationships. *The Journal of Animal Ecology*, 63(4), 786.
  https://doi.org/10.2307/5256
- Kane, M. D. (1997). Microbial Fennentation in Insect Guts. In R. I. Mackie & B. A. White (Eds.), *Gastrointestinal microbiology* (pp. 231–265). Boston, MA: Springer US.
- Karasawa, Y. (1999). Significant role of the nitrogen recycling system through the ceca occurs in protein-depleted chickens. *Journal of Experimental Zoology*, 283(4–5), 418–425. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-010X(19990301/01)283:4/5<418::AID-JEZ11>3.0.CO;2-G
- Kidd, K. A., Hesslein, R. H., Fudge, R. J. P., & Hallard, K. A. (1995). The influence of trophic level as measured by δ15N on mercury concentrations in freshwater organisms. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution*, 80(1–4), 1011–1015. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01189756
- King, J. K., Kostka, J. E., Frischer, M. E., & Saunders, F. M. (2000). Sulfate-Reducing Bacteria Methylate Mercury at Variable Rates in Pure Culture and in Marine Sediments. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 66(6), 2430–2437. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.66.6.2430-2437.2000.Updated
- Kirk, J. L., Lehnherr, I., Andersson, M., Braune, B. M., Chan, L., Dastoor, A. P., ... St. Louis, V. L. (2012). Mercury in Arctic marine ecosystems: Sources, pathways and exposure. *Environmental Research*, *119*(October 2009), 64–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2012.08.012
- Kohl, K. D. (2012). Diversity and function of the avian gut microbiota. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B: Biochemical, Systemic, and Environmental Physiology, 182*(5), 591–602.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00360-012-0645-z

- Koskey, A. M., Fisher, J. C., Traudt, M. F., Newton, R. J., & McLellan, S. L. (2014). Analysis of the Gull Fecal Microbial Community Reveals the Dominance of Catellicoccus marimammalium in Relation to Culturable Enterococci. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 80(2), 757–765. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02414-13
- Kreisinger, J., Kropáčková, L., Petrželková, A., Adámková, M., Tomášek, O., Martin, J.-F., ...
  Albrecht, T. (2017). Temporal Stability and the Effect of Transgenerational Transfer on Fecal
  Microbiota Structure in a Long Distance Migratory Bird. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8(FEB),
  1–19. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00050
- Krouse, H. R., & Mayer, B. (2000). Sulphur and Oxygen Isotopes in Sulphate. In *Environmental Tracers in Subsurface Hydrology* (pp. 195–231). Boston, MA: Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-4557-6\_7
- Kruskal, W. H., & Wallis, W. A. (1952). Use of Ranks in One-Criterion Variance Analysis. Journal of the American Statistical Association, 47(260), 583–621.
- Kulkarni, S., & Heeb, P. (2007). Social and sexual behaviours aid transmission of bacteria in birds. *Behavioural Processes*, 74(1), 88–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2006.10.005
- Kuwae, T., Beninger, P. G., Decottignies, P., Mathot, K. J., Lund, D. R., & Elner, R. W. (2008).
  Biofilm grazing in a higher vertebrate: the Western Sandpiper, Calidris mauri. *Ecology*, 89(3), 599–606. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-1442.1
- Lapanje, A., Rupnik, M., & Drobne, D. (2007). Gut bacterial community structure (Porcellio scaber, Isopoda, Crustacea) as a measure of community level response to long-term and short-

term metal pollution. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 26(4), 755–763. https://doi.org/10.1897/06-099R.1

- Lapanje, A., Zrimec, A., Drobne, D., & Rupnik, M. (2010). Long-term Hg pollution-induced structural shifts of bacterial community in the terrestrial isopod (Porcellio scaber) gut. *Environmental Pollution*, 158(10), 3186–3193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2010.07.001
- Lavoie, R. A., Kyser, T. K., Friesen, V. L., & Campbell, L. M. (2015). Tracking Overwintering Areas of Fish-Eating Birds to Identify Mercury Exposure. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 49(2), 863–872. https://doi.org/10.1021/es502813t
- Lawson, P. A., Collins, M. D., Falsen, E., & Foster, G. (2006). Catellicoccus marimammalium gen. nov., sp. nov., a novel Gram-positive, catalase-negative, coccus-shaped bacterium from porpoise and grey seal. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 56(2), 429–432. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.63874-0
- Legendre, P., & Legendre, L. (2012). Ordination in reduced space. In P. Legendre & L. Legendre (Eds.), *Numerical Ecology* (3rd ed., Vol. 24, pp. 425–520). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-53868-0.50009-5
- Leray, M., Yang, J. Y., Meyer, C. P., Mills, S. C., Agudelo, N., Ranwez, V., ... Machida, R. J. (2013). A new versatile primer set targeting a short fragment of the mitochondrial COI region for metabarcoding metazoan diversity: application for characterizing coral reef fish gut contents. *Frontiers in Zoology*, *10*(1), 34. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-9994-10-34
- Lescord, G. L., Clayden, M. G., Kidd, K. A., Kirk, J. L., Wang, X., O'Driscoll, N. J., & Muir, D.C. G. (2018). Assessing the utility of sulfur isotope values for understanding mercury concentrations in water and biota from high Arctic lakes. *Arctic Science*, *17*(December), 1–

17. https://doi.org/10.1139/as-2018-0022

- Lewis, W. B., Moore, F. R., & Wang, S. (2016). Characterization of the gut microbiota of migratory passerines during stopover along the northern coast of the Gulf of Mexico. *Journal* of Avian Biology, 47, 659–668. https://doi.org/10.1111/jav.00954
- Liu, G., Cai, Y., Philippi, T., Kalla, P., Scheidt, D., Richards, J., ... Appleby, C. (2008). Distribution of total and methylmercury in different ecosystem compartments in the Everglades: Implications for mercury bioaccumulation. *Environmental Pollution*, 153(2), 257–265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2007.08.030
- Logan, J. M., Jardine, T. D., Miller, T. J., Bunn, S. E., Cunjak, R. A., & Lutcavage, M. E. (2008). Lipid corrections in carbon and nitrogen stable isotope analyses: comparison of chemical extraction and modelling methods. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 77(4), 838–846. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2008.01394.x
- Lonsdale, K., & Sutor, D. J. (1971). Uric Acid Dihydrate in Bird Urine. *Science*, *172*(3986), 958–959. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.172.3986.958
- Lott, C. A., Meehan, T. D., & Heath, J. A. (2003). Estimating the latitudinal origins of migratory birds using hydrogen and sulfur stable isotopes in feathers: influence of marine prey base. *Oecologia*, 134(4), 505–510. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-002-1153-8
- Lozupone, C. A., Hamady, M., Kelley, S. T., & Knight, R. (2007). Quantitative and Qualitative Diversity Measures Lead to Different Insights into Factors That Structure Microbial Communities. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 73(5), 1576–1585. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01996-06

- Lozupone, C., & Knight, R. (2005). UniFrac: a New Phylogenetic Method for Comparing Microbial Communities. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 71(12), 8228–8235. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.12.8228-8235.2005
- Lu, J., Santo Domingo, J. W., Lamendella, R., Edge, T., & Hill, S. (2008). Phylogenetic Diversity and Molecular Detection of Bacteria in Gull Feces. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 74(13), 3969–3976. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00019-08
- Lu, K., Abo, R. P., Schlieper, K. A., Graffam, M. E., Levine, S., Wishnok, J. S., ... Fox, J. G. (2014). Arsenic Exposure Perturbs the Gut Microbiome and Its Metabolic Profile in Mice: An Integrated Metagenomics and Metabolomics Analysis. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 122(3), 284–291. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1307429
- Lu, K., Mahbub, R., & Fox, J. G. (2015). Xenobiotics: Interaction with the Intestinal Microflora. *ILAR Journal*, *56*(2), 218–227. https://doi.org/10.1093/ilar/ilv018
- MacMillan, G. A., Girard, C., Chételat, J., Laurion, I., & Amyot, M. (2015). High Methylmercury in Arctic and Subarctic Ponds is Related to Nutrient Levels in the Warming Eastern Canadian Arctic. *Environmental Science* & *Technology*, 49(13), 7743–7753. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b00763
- Mantel, N. (1967). The detection of disease clustering and a generalized regression approach. *Cancer Research*, 27(2), 209–220. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6018555
- Marschall, C., Frenzel, P., & Cypionka, H. (1993). Influence of oxygen on sulfate reduction and growth of sulfate-reducing bacteria. Archives of Microbiology, 159(2), 168–173. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00250278

91

- Maul, J. D., Gandhi, J. P., & Farris, J. L. (2005). Community-Level Physiological Profiles of Cloacal Microbes in Songbirds (Order: Passeriformes): Variation Due to Host Species, Host Diet, and Habitat. *Microbial Ecology*, 50(1), 19–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-004-0076-9
- McKinney, M. A., McMeans, B. C., Tomy, G. T., Rosenberg, B., Ferguson, S. H., Morris, A., ...
  Fisk, A. T. (2012). Trophic Transfer of Contaminants in a Changing Arctic Marine Food
  Web: Cumberland Sound, Nunavut, Canada. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(18), 120907113320002. https://doi.org/10.1021/es302761p
- McKinney, M. A., Pedro, S., Dietz, R., Sonne, C., Fisk, A. T., Roy, D., ... Letcher, R. J. (2015).
  A review of ecological impacts of global climate change on persistent organic pollutant and mercury pathways and exposures in arctic marine ecosystems. *Current Zoology*, *61*(4), 617–628. https://doi.org/10.1093/czoolo/61.4.617
- McKinney, M. A., Stirling, I., Lunn, N. J., Peacock, E., & Letcher, R. J. (2010). The role of diet on long-term concentration and pattern trends of brominated and chlorinated contaminants in western Hudson Bay polar bears, 1991–2007. *Science of The Total Environment*, 408(24), 6210–6222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2010.08.033
- Mead, G. C., Griffiths, N. M., Impey, C. S., & Coplestone, J. C. (1983). Influence of diet on the intestinal microflora and meat flavour of intensively-reared broiler chickens. *British Poultry Science*, 24(2), 261–272. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071668308416738
- Morel, F. M. M., Kraepiel, A. M. L., & Amyot, M. (1998). The Chemical Cycle and Bioaccumulation of Mercury. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 29(1), 543–566. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.29.1.543

- Mortensen, A., & Tindall, A. (1981a). On caecal synthesis and absorption of amino acids and their importance for nitrogen recycling in willow ptarmigan [Lagopus lagopus lagopus ) 1. *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica*, *113*(4), 465–469. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-1716.1981.tb06923.x
- Mortensen, A., & Tindall, A. R. (1981b). Caecal decomposition of uric acid in captive and free ranging willow ptarmigan (Lagopus lagopus lagopus). Acta Physiologica Scandinavica, 111(2), 129–133. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-1716.1981.tb06715.x
- Muyzer, G., & Stams, A. J. M. (2008). The ecology and biotechnology of sulphate-reducing bacteria. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 45(1), 187–192. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1892
- Nisbet, I., Montoya, J., Burger, J., & Hatch, J. (2002). Use of stable isotopes to investigate individual differences in diets and mercury exposures among common terns Sterna hirundo in breeding and wintering grounds. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 242, 267–274. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps242267
- O'Driscoll, N. J., Canário, J., Crowell, N., & Webster, T. (2011). Mercury Speciation and Distribution in Coastal Wetlands and Tidal Mudflats: Relationships with Sulphur Speciation and Organic Carbon. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution, 220*(1–4), 313–326. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-011-0756-2
- O'Driscoll, N. J., Rencz, A., Lean, D. R. S., & Beaney, P. (2005). The Biogeochemistry and Fate of Mercury in the Environment. In A. Sigel, H. Sigel, & R. K. O. Sigel (Eds.), *Metal Ions in Biological Systems, Volume 43 - Biogeochemical Cycles of Elements* (Vol. 44, pp. 221– 238). CRC Press. https://doi.org/doi:10.1201/9780824751999.ch9

- Oakley, B. B., Lillehoj, H. S., Kogut, M. H., Kim, W. K., Maurer, J. J., Pedroso, A., ... Cox, N. A. (2014). The chicken gastrointestinal microbiome. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 360(2), 100–112. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6968.12608
- Overman, N. C., & Parrish, D. L. (2001). Stable isotope composition of walleye: <sup>15</sup>N accumulation with age and area-specific differences in δ<sup>13</sup>C. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 58(6), 1253–1260. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-58-6-1253
- Pan, D., & Yu, Z. (2014). Intestinal microbiome of poultry and its interaction with host and diet. *Gut Microbes*, 5(1), 108–119. https://doi.org/10.4161/gmic.26945
- Parada, A. E., Needham, D. M., & Fuhrman, J. A. (2016). Every base matters: assessing small subunit rRNA primers for marine microbiomes with mock communities, time series and global field samples. *Environmental Microbiology*, 18(5), 1403–1414. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.13023
- Paredes, R., Jones, I., & Boness, D. (2006). Parental roles of male and female thick-billed murres and razorbills at the Gannet Islands, Labrador. *Behaviour*, 143(4), 451–481. https://doi.org/10.1163/156853906776240641
- Parks, J. M., Johs, A., Podar, M., Bridou, R., Hurt Jr., R. A., Smith, S. D., ... Liang, L. (2013). The Genetic Basis for Bacterial Mercury Methylation. *Science*, 339(6125), 1332–1335. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1230667
- Pearson, K. (1895). Note on Regression and Inheritance in the Case of Two Parents Source. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London*, 58, 240–242.

Persson, L. M., Breitholtz, M., Cousins, I. T., de Wit, C. A., MacLeod, M., & McLachlan, M. S.
(2013). Confronting Unknown Planetary Boundary Threats from Chemical Pollution. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47(22), 12619–12622.
https://doi.org/10.1021/es402501c

- Peterson, B. J., & Fry, B. (1987). Stable Isotopes in Ecosystem Studies. *Annual Review of Ecology* and Systematics, 18(1), 293–320. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.es.18.110187.001453
- Pielou, E. C. (1966). The measurement of diversity in different types of biological collections. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 13, 131–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-5193(66)90013-0
- Podar, M., Gilmour, C. C., Brandt, C. C., Soren, A., Brown, S. D., Crable, B. R., ... Elias, D. A. (2015). Global prevalence and distribution of genes and microorganisms involved in mercury methylation. *Science Advances*, 1(9), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1500675
- Point, D., Sonke, J. E., Day, R. D., Roseneau, D. G., Hobson, K. a., Vander Pol, S. S., ... Becker,
  P. R. (2011). Methylmercury photodegradation influenced by sea-ice cover in Arctic marine ecosystems. *Nature Geoscience*, 4(3), 188–194. https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo1049
- Pollman, C. D., & Axelrad, D. M. (2014). Mercury Bioaccumulation and Bioaccumulation Factors for Everglades Mosquitofish as Related to Sulfate: A Re-analysis of Julian II (2013). *Bulletin* of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 93(5), 509–516. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-014-1384-5
- Potrykus, J., White, R. L., & Bearne, S. L. (2008). Proteomic investigation of amino acid catabolism in the indigenous gut anaerobe Fusobacterium varium. *Proteomics*, 8(13), 2691– 2703. https://doi.org/10.1002/pmic.200700437

Poulain, A. J., & Barkay, T. (2013). Cracking the Mercury Methylation Code. Science, 339(6125),

1280–1281. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1235591

- Provencher, J. F., Elliott, K. H., Gaston, A. J., & Braune, B. M. (2013). Networks of prey specialization in an Arctic monomorphic seabird. *Journal of Avian Biology*, 44(6), 551–560. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-048X.2013.05717.x
- Pućko, M., Burt, A., Walkusz, W., Wang, F., Macdonald, R. W., Rysgaard, S., ... Stern, G. A. (2014). Transformation of Mercury at the Bottom of the Arctic Food Web: An Overlooked Puzzle in the Mercury Exposure Narrative. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 48(13), 7280–7288. https://doi.org/10.1021/es404851b
- Quast, C., Pruesse, E., Yilmaz, P., Gerken, J., Schweer, T., Yarza, P., ... Glöckner, F. O. (2012). The SILVA ribosomal RNA gene database project: improved data processing and web-based tools. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *41*(D1), D590–D596. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks1219
- Ramos, R., Ramírez, F., & Jover, L. (2013). Trophodynamics of inorganic pollutants in a wide-range feeder: The relevance of dietary inputs and biomagnification in the Yellow-legged gull (Larus michahellis). *Environmental Pollution*, 172, 235–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2012.09.014
- Rieder, S. R., Brunner, I., Daniel, O., Liu, B., & Frey, B. (2013). Methylation of Mercury in Earthworms and the Effect of Mercury on the Associated Bacterial Communities. *PLoS ONE*, 8(4), e61215. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061215
- Rigét, F., Braune, B., Bignert, A., Wilson, S., Aars, J., Born, E., ... Wiig, Ø. (2011). Temporal trends of Hg in Arctic biota, an update. *Science of The Total Environment*, 409(18), 3520– 3526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2011.05.002

- Risely, A., Waite, D. W., Ujvari, B., Hoye, B. J., & Klaassen, M. (2018). Active migration is associated with specific and consistent changes to gut microbiota in Calidris shorebirds. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 87(2), 428–437. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12784
- Rockström, J., Steffen, W., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin, F. S., Lambin, E. F., ... Foley, J. A.
  (2009). A safe operating space for humanity. *Nature*, 461(7263), 472–475. https://doi.org/10.1038/461472a
- Roggenbuck, M., Bærholm Schnell, I., Blom, N., Bælum, J., Bertelsen, M. F., Sicheritz-Pontén,
  T., ... Hansen, L. H. (2014). The microbiome of New World vultures. *Nature Communications*, 5(1), 5498. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6498
- Rowland, I. R. (1988). Interactions of the gut microflora and the host in toxicology. *Toxicologic Pathology*, *16*(2), 147–153. https://doi.org/10.1177/019262338801600207
- Rowland, I. R., Robinson, R. D., & Doherty, R. A. (1984). Effects of Diet on Mercury Metabolism and Excretion in Mice Given Methylmercury: Role of Gut Flora. *Archives of Environmental Health:* An International Journal, 39(6), 401–408. https://doi.org/10.1080/00039896.1984.10545872
- Rudd, J. W. M., Furutani, A., & Turner, M. A. (1980). Mercury methylation by fish intestinal contents. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *40*(4), 777–782.
- Ryu, H., Griffith, J. F., Khan, I. U. H., Hill, S., Edge, T. A., Toledo-Hernandez, C., ... Santo Domingo, J. (2012). Comparison of Gull Feces-Specific Assays Targeting the 16S rRNA Genes of Catellicoccus marimammalium and Streptococcus spp. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 78(6), 1909–1916. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.07192-11

- Santos, S. S., Pardal, S., Proença, D. N., Lopes, R. J., Ramos, J. A., Mendes, L., & Morais, P. V. (2012). Diversity of cloacal microbial community in migratory shorebirds that use the Tagus estuary as stopover habitat and their potential to harbor and disperse pathogenic microorganisms. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 82(1), 63–74. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2012.01407.x
- Schaefer, J. K., Rocks, S. S., Zheng, W., Liang, L., Gu, B., & Morel, F. M. M. M. (2011). Active transport, substrate specificity, and methylation of Hg(II) in anaerobic bacteria. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 108(21), 8714–8719. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1105781108
- Schartup, A. T., Ndu, U., Balcom, P. H., Mason, R. P., & Sunderland, E. M. (2015). Contrasting Effects of Marine and Terrestrially Derived Dissolved Organic Matter on Mercury Speciation and Bioavailability in Seawater. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 49(10), 5965–5972. https://doi.org/10.1021/es506274x
- Schell, D., Barnett, B., & Vinette, K. (1998). Carbon and nitrogen isotope ratios in zooplankton of the Bering, Chukchi and Beaufort seas. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 162, 11–23. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps162011
- Scheuhammer, A., Braune, B., Chan, H. M., Frouin, H., Krey, A., Letcher, R., ... Wayland, M. (2012). Biological Effects in Fish and Wildlife. In *Canadian Arctic Contaminants Assessment Report III: Mercury in Canada's North* (pp. 213–235). Northern Contaminants Program, Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada.
- Scheuhammer, A., Braune, B., Chan, H. M., Frouin, H., Krey, A., Letcher, R., ... Wayland, M. (2015). Recent progress on our understanding of the biological effects of mercury in fish and

wildlife in the Canadian Arctic. *Science of the Total Environment*, 509–510, 91–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.05.142

- Schmitt, C. J., Stricker, C. A., & Brumbaugh, W. G. (2011). Mercury bioaccumulation and biomagnification in Ozark stream ecosystems. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 74(8), 2215–2224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2011.08.008
- Schuster, P. F., Schaefer, K. M., Aiken, G. R., Antweiler, R. C., Dewild, J. F., Gryziec, J. D., ... Zhang, T. (2018). Permafrost Stores a Globally Significant Amount of Mercury. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 45(3), 1463–1471. https://doi.org/10.1002/2017GL075571
- Selin, N. E. (2009). Global Biogeochemical Cycling of Mercury: A Review. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 34(1), 43–63. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.environ.051308.084314
- Sergeant, M. J., Constantinidou, C., Cogan, T. A., Bedford, M. R., Penn, C. W., & Pallen, M. J. (2014). Extensive microbial and functional diversity within the chicken cecal microbiome. *PLoS ONE*, 9(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0091941
- Shannon, C. E., & Weaver, W. (1949). *The mathematical theory of communication*. Champaign,IL: University of Illinois Press.
- Shapiro, S. S., & Wilk, M. B. (1965). An Analysis of Variance Test for Normality (Complete Samples). *Biometrika*, 52(3/4), 591. https://doi.org/10.2307/2333709
- Shore, R. F., Pereira, M. G., Walker, L. A., & Thompson, D. R. (2011). Mercury in Nonmarine Birds and Mammals. In W. N. Beyer & J. P. Meador (Eds.), *Environmental Contaminants in Biota* (Second, pp. 609–625). CRC Press. https://doi.org/doi:10.1201/b10598-20

- Sinigalliano, C. D., Ervin, J. S., Van De Werfhorst, L. C., Badgley, B. D., Ballesté, E., Bartkowiak, J., ... Santo Domingo, J. W. (2013). Multi-laboratory evaluations of the performance of Catellicoccus marimammalium PCR assays developed to target gull fecal sources. *Water Research*, 47(18), 6883–6896. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.02.059
- Skov, H., Christensen, J. H., Goodsite, M. E., Heidam, N. Z., Jensen, B., Wåhlin, P., & Geernaert, G. (2004). Fate of Elemental Mercury in the Arctic during Atmospheric Mercury Depletion Episodes and the Load of Atmospheric Mercury to the Arctic. *Environmental Science and Technology*, *38*(8), 2373–2382. https://doi.org/10.1021/es030080h
- Sørensen, T. (1948). A method of establishing groups of equal amplitude in plant sociology based on similarity of species content and its application to analyses of the vegetation on Danish commons. *Kongelige Danske Videnskabernes Selskab*, 5(4), 1–34.
- Soucek, Z., & Mushin, R. (1970). Gastrointestinal bacteria of certain Antarctic birds and mammals. *Applied Microbiology*, 20(4), 561–566. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=376989&tool=pmcentrez&rend ertype=abstract
- Spearman, C. (1904). The Proof and Measurement of Association between Two Things. *The American Journal of Psychology*, *15*(1), 72. https://doi.org/10.2307/1412159
- St. Pierre, K. A., Chétélat, J., Yumvihoze, E., & Poulain, A. J. (2014). Temperature and the Sulfur Cycle Control Monomethylmercury Cycling in High Arctic Coastal Marine Sediments from Allen Bay, Nunavut, Canada. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 48(5), 2680–2687. https://doi.org/10.1021/es405253g

Sweeting, C. J., Polunin, N. V. C., & Jennings, S. (2006). Effects of chemical lipid extraction and

arithmetic lipid correction on stable isotope ratios of fish tissues. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry*, 20(4), 595–601. https://doi.org/10.1002/rcm.2347

- Tegtmeier, D., Riese, C., Geissinger, O., Radek, R., & Brune, A. (2016). Breznakia blatticola gen. nov. sp. nov. and Breznakia pachnodae sp. nov., two fermenting bacteria isolated from insect guts, and emended description of the family Erysipelotrichaceae. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*, 39(5), 319–329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.syapm.2016.05.003
- Thompson, D. R., Hamer, K. C., & Furness, R. W. (1991). Mercury Accumulation in Great Skuas Catharacta skua of Known Age and Sex, and Its Effects Upon Breeding and Survival. *Journal* of Applied Ecology, 28(2), 672–684.
- Thong-On, A., Suzuki, K., Noda, S., Inoue, J., Kajiwara, S., & Ohkuma, M. (2012). Isolation and Characterization of Anaerobic Bacteria for Symbiotic Recycling of Uric Acid Nitrogen in the Gut of Various Termites. *Microbes and Environments*, 27(2), 186–192. https://doi.org/10.1264/jsme2.ME11325
- Tsuchiya, C., Sakata, T., & Sugita, H. (2007). Novel ecological niche of Cetobacterium somerae, an anaerobic bacterium in the intestinal tracts of freshwater fish. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 46(1), 071018031740002–??? https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2007.02258.x
- Vandamme, P., Segers, P., Vancanneyt, M., Hove, K. V. A. N., Mutters, R., Hommez, J., ... Mannheim, W. (1994). Ornithobacterium rhinotracheale gen. nov., sp. nov. Isolated from the Avian Respiratory Tract. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*, 44(1), 24–37.
- Vázquez-Baeza, Y., Gonzalez, A., Smarr, L., McDonald, D., Morton, J. T., Navas-Molina, J. A.,& Knight, R. (2017). Bringing the Dynamic Microbiome to Life with Animations. *Cell Host*

& Microbe, 21(1), 7-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2016.12.009

- Vázquez-Baeza, Y., Pirrung, M., Gonzalez, A., & Knight, R. (2013). EMPeror: a tool for visualizing high-throughput microbial community data. *GigaScience*, 2(1), 16. https://doi.org/10.1186/2047-217X-2-16
- Vecherskii, M. V, Kuznetsova, T. A., & Stepan'kov, A. A. (2015). Activity of urealytic microorganisms in the gastrointestinal tract of the black grouse Lyrurus tetrix. *Doklady Biological Sciences*, 462(1), 131–133. https://doi.org/10.1134/S0012496615030060
- Vispo, C., & Karasov, W. H. (1997). The Interaction of Avian Gut Microbes and Their Host: An Elusive Symbiosis. In R. I. Mackie & B. A. White (Eds.), *Gastrointestinal microbiology* (pp. 116–155). Boston, MA: Springer US.
- Vo, A.-T. E., Bank, M. S., Shine, J. P., & Edwards, S. V. (2011). Temporal increase in organic mercury in an endangered pelagic seabird assessed by century-old museum specimens. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(18), 7466–7471. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1013865108
- Waite, D. W., & Taylor, M. W. (2014). Characterizing the avian gut microbiota: Membership, driving influences, and potential function. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 5(MAY), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00223
- Waite, D. W., & Taylor, M. W. (2015). Exploring the avian gut microbiota: Current trends and future directions. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 6(JUL), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.00673

Waldenström, J., Broman, T., Carlsson, I., Hasselquist, D., Achterberg, R. P., Wagenaar, J. A., &

Olsen, B. (2002). Prevalence of Campylobacter jejuni, Campylobacter lari, and Campylobacter coli in Different Ecological Guilds and Taxa of Migrating Birds. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *68*(12), 5911–5917. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.68.12.5911–5917.2002

- Weigand, M. R., Ryu, H., Bozcek, L., Konstantinidis, K. T., & Santo Domingo, J. W. (2013). Draft
  Genome Sequence of Catellicoccus marimammalium, a Novel Species Commonly Found in
  Gull Feces. *Genome Announcements*, 1(1), 12–13. https://doi.org/10.1128/genomeA.0001912
- Wilcoxon, F. (1945). Individual Comparisons by Ranking Methods. *Biometrics Bulletin*, 1(6), 80. https://doi.org/10.2307/3001968
- Williams, T. D. (2008). Individual variation in endocrine systems: moving beyond the "tyranny of the Golden Mean." *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 363(1497), 1687–1698. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2007.0003
- Woo, K. J., Elliott, K. H., Davidson, M., Gaston, A. J., & Davoren, G. K. (2008). Individual specialization in diet by a generalist marine predator reflects specialization in foraging behaviour. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 77(6), 1082–1091. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2008.01429.x